Riyadh
Development
Company

Leverage
Capabilities

for Growth

Annual Report 20 B

L f ol
o (Th. . atal
rﬂ.‘l‘ﬂ;’l’;ﬂ







Board of Directors 2023

His Royal Highness Prince
Faisal bin Bandar bin Abdulaziz

Governor of Riyadh, Honorary Chairman of the Board

His Highness Prince
Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD

Mayor of Riyadh Region, Chairman of the Board

Mr.Majed bin Nasser Alsubeaei

Vice Chairman of the Board

Mr.Fahad Abdullah AlKassim
Member of the Board

Mr. Sulaiman Nasser Al Hatlan
Member of the Board

. f

Mr.Nayef Ibrahim Al-Hadithi
Member of the Board

Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun

Member of the Board

Mr.Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth

Member of the Board

Mr.Abdul-Ilah Abdul Rahman Al-Hussein

Member of the Board

Mr.Abdulrahman Ayed Algahtani

Member of the Board



Contents

01 Introdu

~ Foreword

L i

; i) E_Z-ﬁ;j;)urney
Our Bug:ihess Sect
Our Projects
- Our Sfcrategy
‘Highlights & Achi

Opportunities

Disclaimer:

This Annual Report covers financial and operational aspects of ARDCO and
is issued in both Arabic and English. The print version is identical to its PDF
counterpart, whichis available at riyadh.dev The Arabic version prevails in the
event of any discrepancy. The images in this document are representative of
the services provided by ARDCO.

2023 Facts & Figures

Conclusion

05 Financial Statements

50
51

52

RN
VAV AN




Annual Report 2023 - Riyadh Development Company

YAVAV/AY/A4
YAVANV/AV/AN

01
INntroduction

03. Financial Results 02.0verview 01. Introduction

04. Corporate Governance

05.Financial Statements




Foreword

ARDCO celebrates 30 years since its establishment as a key building block of the inspiring
vision of the Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques, King Salman bin Abdulaziz, may God
protect him. ARDCO was established as a strategic partnership within the private sector,
enabling it to make its mark in the Kingdom's economic renaissance, and allowing Riyadh
to become a global standard of urban prosperity as a model of welfare and quality of life.

The Board of Directors of Riyadh Development Company anticipate a bright future for our
beloved country in light of the Kingdom's Vision 2030. as we transition from a thirty-year
journey filled with achievement and success, which witnessed the company's successive
boards of directors and its executive teams succeed in harnessing all its capabilities and
resources to build a titan of industry that not only brought about positive social impact,
but did so while maximizing total shareholder return for its investors. Accordingly, at the
beginning of 2023, the board launched our company strategy under the theme of “Invest
for Growth" to actively participate in the growth and development witnessed by the
Kingdom and its capital, Riyadh has shown particular success and continues to be a vital
contributor to the Kingdom's economy. Through this, we seek to launch more key real
estate investment and development projects and initiatives, while establishing, operating
and managing public good service projects, deeply aware of our role and responsibility in
contributing to the Saudi economic renaissance and working towards sustainable growth.
ARDCO possesses a great commitment to our vision, mission and values, adopting a
comprehensive strategy that invests with clear goals, builds on our rich heritage, and
carries us towards an ever brighter future.

As we launched the company’s strategy at the beginning of 2023, we were determined to
harness our capabilities to invest in growth. We worked to develop a slogan for this stage
based on "Leverage Capabilities for Growth" by meeting the desired strategic objectives,
and utilizing our capabilities and resources in the most optimal manner. Therefore, we
directed the executive management to invest in building capabilities and competencies
in order to achieve sustainable growth and prioritize knowledge transfer through project
partnerships.

In our strategy, we have committed to maximizing the return on our current assets.
while exiting underutilized or low-performing assets. As an example, an agreement
was signed in order to establish a joint venture between ARDCO and Riyadh Holding
Company to centralize all operations in the markets owned by the two companies
(AlTameer, AlMeaigliyah, and AlDirah), which would contribute to maximizing the return
on assets.

Wealsoaimedtoinvestin new projects that fuels growth and contribute to establishing
sustainable income and profits streams. The first of these investments was the signing
of a 25-year framework agreement with the Misk Foundation to develop a number of
educational complexes for their use.

Leveraging our past achievements and aiming for our future goals. we express our
sincere gratitude to our leadership for their unwavering support in propelling our
beloved country forward. With unwavering optimism and a commitment to growth. we
embark on this journey together. We recognize the tireless efforts of our employees.
partners. and shareholders who are instrumental in achieving our shared vision and y
ambitions as we navigate our transformation.

Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD

Chairman of the Board of Directors




Board of Director’s Letter

In 2023. the Riyadh Development Company experienced a significant turning point in its journey. after 30 years of success and
progress. At the beginning of the year. the company launched its "Investing for Growth" strategy. culminating all the efforts made
towardsinstitutional developmentin 2022. Some of these efforts included the modernization of the company’s basicinfrastructure.

digital & regulatory systems. and attracting exceptional talent to lead and implement the transformation journey.

The company's new strategy aims to achieve sustainable growth and strive towards excellence in real estate development and
development management, as well as to strengthen our leading position in the fresh produce sector and public good service
markets through their development and expanding into its value chain. This will allow us to raise our operational efficiency and
property management, aiming to diversify our investments and maximize the return on our asset portfolio, ultimately maximizing
total shareholder return. We are committed to achieving our objectives with a business model that seeks to create positive impact
around us and our community as wellas achieve sustainability in its broadest sense, reflecting positively on our clients, colleagues,

partners, and shareholders.

The strategy also establishes a set of key targets for the company, including doubling our net income to more than 500 Mn SAR,
raising recurring revenues to one Bn SAR, and restructuring investments to shift from an all-equity structure to one that comprises
of a28% leverage of the value of assets within 5 years, reaching 23% by 2032. This is a key enabler in allowing the company to enter

into new projects worth more than 6 Bn SAR by 2032.

The company's strategy outlines a roadmap with three main phases towards achieving its objectives. The first phase includes
improving the operational performance of current assets. The second phase will include the diversification and development of its

investment portfolio in target sectors. The third phase seeks to achieve sustainable growth and explore promising opportunities.

In 2023, the company focused its efforts on executing the first phase of the strategy. In particular, it worked towards improving the
operational performance of the company's current assets by raising operational efficiency and upgrading its business infrastructure,

maximizing the return on the value of its current assets, and exiting underutilized and low-performing assets.

As a result, the company invested in maintaining, restoring and improving all of the company'’s real estate assets and centers in
2022 and 2023, obtaining necessary civil defense certificates and safety licenses. This was followed by the issuance of municipal
licenses necessary to carry out various activities and contributed to anincrease in the occupancy rate to 949% in 2023, driven mainly
by an increase in the occupancy rate in Oteigah Central Market from 67% to 95%. It also led to an increase in market revenues in
2023 by 39 Mn SAR in 2023 compared to the prior, as it rose from 259 Mn to 298 Mn. This was achieved despite the termination of the
AlBatha Meat & Vegetables Market operation, which was exited due to its lack of economic feasibility as a result of the dilapidation

of its infrastructure. In its stead, work is underway to establish a high-standard meat market in Oteigah Central Market.

Investment was also made in a multi-purpose area in Oteigah Central Market to host our fresh produce seasons throughout the
year. This allowed us to host the second edition of the Oteigah Dates Season in the market, where it attracted 800 thousand visitors,
compared to 300 thousand visitors in the previous edition; saw the trade of over 14 thousand tons of dates; and rented space to

more than 70 traders, with a marked rise in trader and customer satisfaction and sentiment compared to the first edition.

Implementation of the first phase also saw an improvement in operational performance and a review of pricing strategies in public
good services markets and the AlTameer Public Transportation Center. This led to an increase in rental and operational revenues,
diversification of revenue sources, and the introduction of new units in the market as wellas new sources of income, which recorded
an increase of 16% in recurring revenue compared to the previous year. Work was also done to utilize an area of 100 thousand m2
within AlTameer International Car Auction through contracting with a driving school, which is expected to bring an annual revenue
ranging between 5-12 Mn SAR, through rentalincome and profit sharing. These efforts have contributed to raising the quality of the

company's recurring revenues in line with its objective towards achieving sustainable growth.

Regardinginvestmentand real estate development, the company inked a 25-year framework agreement with the Misk Foundation,
through which the company will develop educational facilities to be operated by Misk in a BTS [Built-to-suit) arrangement. The first
of these projects will be the development of the first educational facility on lands owned by an ARDCO-led consortium in Tilal
AlRiyadh, AlMalga district.

The company also signed a memorandum of understanding with Riyadh Holding Company to establish a new entity charged with
investment, management, development and centralization in the operation of all markets owned by the two companies in AlDirah
district [AlTameer Wholesale Market, Al-Meaigliyan Commercial Center, AlDirah Markets) as well as improving the city's urban

landscape and developing it into a tourist destination. Through this, the agreement seeks to maximize the return on asset.

In terms of human capital, ARDCO is proud of the increase in its Saudi workforce from 52% in 2022 to 75% in 2023, as well as the
doubling of female employees in our organization from approximately 4% of the workforce in 2022 to 8% in 2023. We look to

continue efforts to improve our work environment and culture as well as enhance inclusion and diversity within the organization.

The company achieved revenues amounting to 339 Mn SAR for our main business in the fiscal year ending December 31,2023. This
is an increase of 31% over the previous year, while total revenues amounted to 486 Mn SAR, an increase of 3% over the previous
year. This comes despite the decrease in income from Tanal, an associate company, by 49%, as a result of the decrease in the
volume of land sales compared to 2022, regardless of the increase in average selling prices. This contributed to achieving profits of
271Mn SAR in 2023 compared to 300 Mn SAR for the previous year.

In conclusion, we would like to express our gratitude to all who contributed to achieving all the successes we have witnessed in
2023, particularly all our valued customers and suppliers for their constant cooperation. And to our shareholders, we extend our

sincere gratitude for your trust and support.

Board of Directors
Riyadh Development Company
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ARDCO

Riyadh Development Company.

Riyadh Development Company.

Public Good Services

Sector providing the daily needs of the community, such as food,
livestock, etc.

Sustainability

The strategic objectives on which the company's strategy is based
pon, under the slogan «Invest for growth...»

ironmentally, socially, and
econo le rin ord to satisfy current needs
withoutimped

-

Governance

The systems and controls that regulate stakehold
achieve the principles that the company operates upon.

Digital Transformation

Integrating digital technologies, processes and strategies across the
business to enhance performance, efficiency and value delivery, often
involving innovations such as artificial intelligence, cloud computing,
and data analytics.

r ,_L__ to meet theirs.

Digitization

Creating a digital counterpart to a physical object or process.

Business Sectors

The company's three sectors: development, operations, and leasing.

Leasing Income

Revenues generated from the company's leasing activities.

Automation

The use of technology in various industrial, commercial and service
applications to automatically and accurately manage the procedures
and actions efficiently with the least possible error.

Logistics

Management of the flow of goods, services, and information from origin
odestjnat_ion. Itincludes fcransportation,warehouin and inventor
management within th e :

Partnerships

The partnerships that bond ARDCO with the public sector, private
sector, and third sector.
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Our Journey

ARDCO's journey began in 1994, built upon the grand vision for the future from King Salman bin Abdulaziz, during his
time as Governor of Riyadh. We ventured into our first mandate to develop the Qasr AlHukm area in central Riyadh,
followed by the Batha Meat & Vegetables Market in 1997, the Riyadh Market in 1999, and Tilal AlRiyadh in AlMalga
district.

Between 2001 and 2007, our business underwent a significant expansion through real estate development,
investment, as well as the establishment, operation, and management of public good services. This period
witnessed the opening of the Public Transportation Center in 2001, the Aziziyah Fruits & Vegetables Market in 2005,
and AlTameer International Car Auction in 2007.

As our ambitions grew, we sought to facilitate our expansion by raising ARDCO's capital from 1Bn SAR to 1.3 Bnin
2014. This constituted a significant leap in our sector, with which we were able to acquire land in AlThumama to
begin a new phase in our company'’s development.

In 2016, we entered into a partnership with the Riyadh Municipality to operate the Oteigah Central Market under a
BOT framework, with which Oteigah Market saw significant stages of growth throughout the years. We also entered
a partnership with a real estate partner in the Tanal Real Estate Investment and Development Project, with our
AlThumama property as an in-kind contribution equivalent to a 69.38% share of the project.

2023 saw the beginning of a new phase in our transformation wherein we launched our new corporate strategy,
focusing on legacy, diversification, growth, sustainability, and digital transformation. As one of our first steps in
bringing our strategy to life, we established a partnership with Riyadh Holding Company to establish an entity to
manage our key real estate assets in AlDirah in central Riyadh.

Immediately following, these early stages of growth we signed a framework agreement with Misk Foundation to
develop educational facilities, with an estimated cost of around 275 Mn SAR, including the value of the land owned
by a coalition led by ARDCO and a binding lease contract for a period of 25 years, subject to renewal. This key
development will contribute to maximizing shareholder return as well as supporting the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia's
Vision 2030 into the future.

1994

1997

1999 - 2000

Establishment

With King Salman Bin
Abdulaziz’s vision. ARDCO
was established with His
Majesty as the 1st honorary
Chairman of the Board,
setting the foundation for
the company’s 1st
mixed-used developmentin
the center of Riyadh
(AlTameer Wholesale
Center)

2001 - 2007

Development
Meat & Vegetable
Market in Al Bathaa
Inaugurated 1997

2014 - 2015

Inauguration of

Riyadh Market &

AlTameer Wholesale

Center

¢ Riyadh Market: Inaugurated
1999

¢ AlTameer Wholesale:
Inaugurated 2000

¢ Commencement of Tilal

2016 - 2019

AlRiyadh land development.

i

Expansion of Activities
¢ BusTerminal Inaugurated
2007

¢ Alaziziyah Fruits & Vegetable
Market Inaugurated 2005

¢ AlTameer International Car
Auction Inaugurated 2007

2020

Increase the company’s
capital

¢ CapitalIncrease
Capitalincrease from
SAR1Bn to SAR1.3 Bn.
¢ AlTameerPlaza 3

inaugural and commencement
of its operations.

Purchase of a 2.5 Mn sqm super
plotin Thumamah.

2021

New partnerships

¢

Otaigah Central Market Partnership
with Riyadh Municipality

st phase inaugurated 2016
2nd phase inaugurated 2019

Tanal Real Estate Development &
Investment project partnership

Land in-kind contribution worth
69.38% of the company's equity in
the partnership

2022

Tanal Sales Commence

¢ Launch of Thumamah land
sales (Tanal] through Tanal
Real Estate Development &
Investment Company.

Memorandum of
Understanding

¢ Amemorandum of
understanding with the Ministry
of Environment, Water and
Agriculture regarding public
benefit markets.

Strategy development

¢

2023

\

Starting the work of
developing the company’s
new strategy.

b

Quality Partnerships
¢ =-Launchof ARDCO's new corporate strategy
under the name "Invest for growth".

¢ MoU with Riyadh Holding Company to
establish an entity to' develop AlDirah district

assets.

O 25-year framework agreement with Misk
Foundation to develop educational facilities

03.Financial Results 02.Overview 01. Introduction

04. Corporate Governance

05.Financial Statements




Our Business

Since 2001, ARDCO has invested in developing infrastructure and raw land for various residential plans and
communities in north and northeastern Riyadh. It has also developed numerous retail, residential, and public good
services projects in central Riyadh, as well as leading development in multiple residential plans and communities
within the city. ARDCO has established itselfas a leading entity in real estate investment and developmentin Riyadh
and the Kingdom. With this sector being one of the main drivers of growth for ARDCO's new corporate strategy, we
have identified key real estate sectors forinvestment which will maximize shareholder returns in the years to come.

ARDCO's strategy is founded on investment and economic acumen that delivers sustainable financial returns
for investors. It achieves this by diversifying its income in leasing within its assets and centers, as well as leasing
available space within projects that the company operates and manages. They are as follows:

Developed in 2000 and considered ARDCO's first and largest project
to date. A mixed-use complex with retail, office, and residential units,
located in AlDirah area on a plot in excess of 105,000 m2.

Built on an area of over 196,000 m2, phase one of Oteigah Central
Market was inaugurated in 2016, with phase two following three years
laterin 2019. Developed in partnership with Riyadh Municipality as the
landowner on a B.0.T agreement, Oteigah is a historically significant
landmark that offers a multitude of food options, from fresh produce
to dates, meat, fish, and legumes to individual consumers and SMEs.

Opened in 1999, over 38000 m2 of property situated near the ey
intersection... between AlBatha Street and South Ring Road, it is a P

multiuse complex with retail and office units. The market is part of a -rf’r""'_'l = Gy Bt
larger development along with the nearby AlAziziya central market m_

that evolves into a singular comprehensive service complex.

Located over 27,000 m2 near AlTameer fresh produce markets, the
company's cold storage warehouses are instrumental in meeting the
markets' logistical needs. The first unit was leased out in 2013, after 4
years of development beginning in 2009.

Parcels of land with a total area of 46,000 m2 strategically located
along the South Ring Road. These plots are are leased out in a build-
operate agreement. Initially acquired in partnership with several
investors in 2004.

Acquired in 2022, and consists of 12-story office space with two-story
parking, developed over a 3,346m2 plot, with a total of 10,500 m2
leasable area.
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Operations & Public Good Services

ARDCO is the main operator of fresh produce markets, the Public Transportation Center, and the AlTameer
International Car Auction.

The fresh produce market is a fast growing global sector. Within a local context, we are expected to see the sector
grow 6.8% annualby 2026 as we experience continuing significant support through governmentinitiatives under the
leadership of the Ministry of Environment, Water, and Agriculture, as well as the inevitable increase in fresh produce
consumption with the increase of Riyadh's population. As a result, ARDCO has sought to identify the best global
practices in orderto adopt the most effective approach in achieving operational excellence in this vital, everchanging
sector. We willalso use our deeply rooted experience in this sector to identify and take advantage of key opportunities
within the fresh produce value chain to expand our business in a sector that constitutes over 60 Bn SAR annually and
sees 60% of its activities in the Kingdom run through ARDCO's very own AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetables Market.

Shifting our focus to the car auction, where there is a car market that is increasing at a rate of 4% annual from 2021
to 2027 globally. This is due largely to a rise of the global middle class, ease of market entry and operations through
digitization, and a vehicle supply shortage as a result of worldwide supply chain challenges. Locally, we expect to
see the Saudi used car market to show accelerated growth at 5% annual by 2027. Saudi growth is outpacing this
because of an increase in car ownership, the new influx of female drivers, increased demand in transportation, and
theincrease of new workforce inthe country. Many also view the omittance of VAT from car sales between individuals
asaboosttothe currentused car market. Consequently, ARDCO seeks to utilize its pioneering position in this market
toimprove its efficiency in operations and maximize returns.

Operation & public good service projects are as follows:

01

Fresh Produce

02

AlTameer Center

03

AlTameer
International Car
Auction

01.  Fresh Produce Sector [AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market]

In 1998, ARDCO began developing the market on around 274,000 m2 of company-owned land in AlAziziyah, Riyadh.
The marketis considered to be among the largest in fresh produce wholesale in the Middle East. It plays a key role in
food security in the Kingdom through providing all markets with both local and imported fresh produce, while also
exporting to neighboring markets.

Adopting a new organizational structure
to manage our markets and attracting
top talent.

Improving and renovating our facilities
and cold storage facilities.

Alignment with government authorities
responsible for public good services and
cooperating with them across multiple
initiatives. including Saudization and
shifting to an electronic payment
system.

Consolidating relationships with traders
and dealers in the market by periodically
holding meetings to receive feedback
and implement suggestions.

Studying the market's current master
planin order to improve operational
capacity.

Establishing global partnerships to
identify best practices and transfer
knowledge.

Working to establish sustainability
principles. raise quality standards. and
further support local produce.

Developing operational systems to keep
pace with market demands and linking
them with financial. regulatory. and
governmental systems.

02.Overview




This center is an intercity bus terminal built on ARDCO's 150,000 m2 land in AlAziziya. Commencing operations in
20071, it is the Middle East's largest intercity bus terminal, with retail outlets for traveler shopping as well as office
spaces for Hajj and Umrah companies.

ARDCO is working to raise its operational capacity through:

Pricing policies & strategies

review

Facilities maintenance

Repurpose and use
underutilized spacesin the
most efficient manner

Developing operational systems
to become interconnectable
with financial, regulatory and
governmental systems

Explore opportunities
compatible with the public
transportation strategy

Established in 2007 and developed over 240,000 m2 of ARDCO-owned land in eastern Riyadh, the auction facility
comprise nine auction lanes, supported by a 20,000-vehicle storage area. The location offers auctioning and sales

centers servicing car financing companies.

ARDCO is working to further expand our car auction business through:

Developing the current auction operation by maintaining facilities. expanding the supplier base, and attracting more
buyers.

Investing in promising opportunities in underutilized facilities, such as using all nine auction lanes instead of only
one, as well as repurposing undeveloped land within the auction.

Digitizing all supply chains by creating digital channels, enabling infrastructure, and providing value-added services
such as carinspection, photography, and car depots, in addition to delivering cars directly to customers.

Building new partnerships to transfer knowledge and adopt the best international practices in the carauction sector.
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I Our Projects

0

Azizia

Al Faisaliah Centre

i Kingdom Tower
A

n o .
ﬁ“‘“ AlRajhi Mosque

iﬁi AlMasmak Palace

N King Abdullah Financial Center

02. Company-Owned Land

Land Size (2]
01  Technical Services City Land 125.000
02 Area7Lland(Qasr AlHukm area) 18.247
03  TilalAlRiyadh Land (Educational) 10,586
04  TilalAlRiyadh Land [Residential] 4,860
05 Tanal Development [Affiliate Company) 183,129

Total 341,822

03. Leased Land Projects

PRroJECT Size (M2]

01  Oteigah Central Market 186,328 M2

01. Company-Owned Centers and Markets

Center Size (m2)
01  AlAziziyah Market for Fruits & Vegetables Wholesale 274,37
02 AlTameer International Car Auction Land 241,495
03  AlTameer Public Transportation Center 148,303
04  AlTameer Wholesale Center 104,476
05 Riyadh AlTameer Market 24,377
06  Office Building 3,346
07 Cold Storage 27,865
08 AlAziziyah Land - Leased under BOT contract 46,657

Total 870.890

Riyadh Development Asset Classification

Logistical
24%

Offices
14%

Residential
4% ;
- Commercial

58%

Residential [ll  Logistical [l Offices[]  Commercial

02.Overview




Our Strategic Objectives

Our Strategy

OurVision

At ARDCO, we strive with all our efforts and resources to achieve the following strategic objectives:

We strive to be the sustainable partner of choice to cultivate urban development and elevate human welfare.

building on Riyadh's legacy towards promising horizons.

Our Mission
1 Double our net income over the 2. Achieve revenues close to SAR 1

We strive for excellence in real estate development and management, and to strengthen our pioneering position next 10 years, by 2032.

billion within the next 10 years.

in the fresh produce and public good services sector. We are committed to enhancing our operational efficiency

in our businesses and aim to diversify our investments, increasing returns on our assets, and maximizing total
shareholder return. We will operate within a business philosophy that seeks to create impact all around us and 0 '
D

achieve sustainability in its broadest sense. This is for the benefit of everyone across our value chain, including our

Annual Report 2023 - Riyadh Development Company

customers, colleagues, partners and shareholders.

Our Values

ARDCO prides itself on its steadfast approach in its business through our set of holistic values:

AAA
AAA
AAA

01. Commitment

ARDCO values commitment to the highest
standard of quality in all our initiatives, providing our
shareholders with periodic reports on our financial
performance and constantly informing them of our
corporate decisions.

AV
AV

03. Adaptability

ARDCO values adaptability in managing a diverse
portfolio by keeping a finger on the pulse of global
best practices in building sustainable mixed-use
projects. We view it as a key factor and a core value
that makes us a constant example of progress and
prosperity.

A
AA

05. Collaboration

ARDCO values the spirit of cooperation and the
importance of working as a singular team. As we
are responsible for the needs of our employees,
we invest in their capabilities through continuous
development and training to help achieve
their personal and professional goals with the
organization.

A
A A
AA

02. Credibility

ARDCO values credibility through transparency and
active communication as we consider it to be a key
characteristic of the positive, successful relationship
with our shareholders as well as our status as the
model partner forall.

A
\ 2 4
| X
04. Excellence

ARDCO values excellence in all our projects and
innovation in all ourinitiatives. We aim to achieve our
vision and mission through our commitment to our
values to be the highest standard of excellence for
urban architecture that sets the ultimate priority on
human well-being.

A
AA
A
A
06. Initiative

ARDCO values the proactive initiative of our
employees to contribute to our collective success.
We care deeply about our employees and support
them in taking innovative actions, as they are the key
driving force forindividual and collective progress.

3. Improve profit margins from 60%
to 68% within the next 10 years

o“‘o
|m o M
-
5. Maximize shareholders total
return as an outcome of the
strategy through dividend and

potential capital gain.

. 4@
02.0verview

Transition the capital structure
from all-equity to one that
comprises a 28% leverage in 5
yearsanda23%in 10 years.

Launching more sustainable
projects based on a more
balanced mix of real estate, fresh
produce, existing and future
leasing business, and other

investment opportunities.




An Overview of Our 2023 Achievements

2023 was a year of significant achievements for ARDCO. with the completion of multiple projects that mark a key
milestone in our transformation. ultimately contributing to national economic progress. Our achievements this year
fellacross 7 key pillars:

ARDCO launched its new corporate strategy with the objective of achieving sustainable financial returns for
our investors by diversifying our sources of income across multiple sectors. We also launched a new corporate
identity and brand consistent with our vision, along with a new corporate website with an investor relations portal.
Additionally, we activated our social media accounts to increase engagement, as well as providing full coverage of
our strategic partnership signing ceremonies.

Expected outcomes:

e Improving operational efficiency and
business infrastructure.
«  Maximizing returns on current assets. 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2032

o Divesting untapped and/or poorly
performing assets.

e Further building and developing

10 years implementation plan

priority business sectors.

Expected outcomes: 10 years implementation plan

e Strengthening ARDCO's position as
a leading developer in key real estate 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2032

sectors.

« Diversifying via broader operational scopes
while accruing revenues on investmentsin
targeted sectors.

Expected outcomes: 10 years implementation plan
. Expanding investments in targeted
sectors. 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2032

. Solidifying ARDCO's position
as a top institutional developer
and expanding in the fields of
development management and
property management.

. Approaching closer towards a
holding company business model as

business lines continue to mature.

* Developmentand launch of ARDCO's new corporate identity.
o Completion of 66% of Phase 1(2023-24]) of our strategic initiatives.

» Won the Philip Kotler Award 2023 for Best Entertainment and Culture Campaign in Saudi Arabia for our
National Day 93 campaign.

ARDCO places the principles of sustainability at the core of our business, setting it at the top of our list of priorities and
strategies. We are keen to integrate these principles into all aspects of our activities, as we have created sustainable
sources of income that effectively contribute to enhancing our financial stability in the long term. This approach
enables us to reconcile our short-term goals, which focus on growth-generating investments, with the long-term
goals of maximizing total shareholder return, in step with the ambitious economic renaissance witnessed in the
Kingdom.

Through this approach, we seek to establish a platform for sustainability, carefully balancing between achieving
immediate growth, as well as ensuring continued success and profitability for the future. By adopting these
principles, we ensure that every step we take contributes to building a solid foundation for a sustainable future that
benefits both our shareholders and the overall community.
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Investment and Real Estate Development

2023 was a year of preparation and planning for ARDCO, through which we solidified our role as a major player in
the real estate development sector in Riyadh. Our efforts this year were crowned by the success in attracting highly
competent professionals in the field of investment and real estate development, reflecting positively on investor
confidence in the company. We have also introduced real estate development fees for the first time in our history,
expected to contribute no less than 10% of our total recurring income in the coming years.

We have also conducted a detailed study of all assets and lands owned by ARDCO in order to identify development
and investment opportunities with the aim of maximizing total shareholder return and increasing operating
efficiency, or make the decision to exit if they are not compatible with our new directions and strategy.

Partnerships

As part of our endeavor to strengthen our position in the business sector, ARDCO focuses on adopting best practices
through building strategic partnerships with key players in both the local and international context. Through this
approach, we will be able to achieve the maximum benefit for all stakeholders, guided by our firm conviction in the
importance of investing in developing capabilities, as well as by our strong commitment to transferring knowledge,
exchanging know-how, and establishing fruitful partnerships with global organizations with extensive experience
across various sectors.

Among the notable steps we took in this context was the efforts to execute Dirah JV in partnership with Riyadh
Holding Company. This agreement represents the type of ideal partnership that our company seeks to achieve, as it
aims to develop pioneering projects that contribute to enriching the real estate sector and enhancing the quality of
life within the communities in which we operate.

We also signed a 25-year framework agreement with Misk Schools, a strategic step aimed at strengthening
the educational sector and supporting sustainable development. This partnership allows us to contribute to the
development of educational infrastructure and provide high-quality educational facilities aimed at enabling future
generations, emphasizing our effective role in supporting and promoting development in various sectors.

Key Achievements

Withthe consistentdevelopmentand remarkable growth we are witnessing in Riyadh,along with the steadyincrease
in the number of residents and visitors, many regional companies have begun to shift their regional headquarters to
the capital. This paves the way for us to begin implementing our real estate development and investment strategy
on the ground in 2023, where we accomplished the following:

. Prepared a detailed engineering and financial study on the car auction property and the undeveloped
land of the technical services property, in which key opportunities were identified to potentially maximize
the return on ourinvestment in these properties.

. Signed a framework agreement with the Misk Foundation to develop schools throughout the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia through a BTS model, achieving an annual return of at least 8% annually.
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Framework Agreement Signing with Misk Foundation
To develop a group of educational facilities on ARDCO-owned land in Tilal AlRiyadh - AlMalga.

Pioneering a Sector

E

This agreement aims to develop a strategic
partnership between ARDCO and Misk Foundation
by developing BTS educational facilities.

N4
by
Cooperating with partners in the educational
sector, expected to grow in demand with Riyadh's
population growth, and catalyzing institutional

investment in the education sector, creating added
value to the knowledge economy.

=P

il

Focused on investing in projects within promising
growth sectors to achieve sustainable sources of
income by engaging in long-term contracts prior to the
development commencement. [Offtake Agreement)

E‘%

Satisfying Misk Foundation's current and future
requirements in their educational facilities and
providing quality solutions to suit their needs,
providing an educational environment at par with

the highest international standards in the education
sector.

Facts & Figures

Development cost of the first project
is estimated at 275 Mn SAR, including
land value owned by the ARDCO-led
consortium.

ARDCO will begin development as per
the scope of the framework agreement,
which includes a renewable binding lease
agreement with a period of 25 years.

Economic Impact

The first project will be developed on two
lands in Tilal AlRiyadh in AlMalga, with a
totalarea of 22,000 m2.

The net annual return on investment
will be 8%. The financial impact of each
educational facility will be announced
separately after the approval of the
financial structure and ARDCQ's share in
each project.

The agreement aims to satisfy the growing need for Riyadh's growing population, which expects student numbers
to grow from 1.5 Mn to 3.7 Mn. The number of international and private schools is expected to double from roughly
1,700 schools in 2020 to more than 5,000 schools by 2030 based on a study conducted by Strategy&.

Aligning with Vision 2030

Building an educational experience aligned with Vision 2030's Human Capabilities Development

Program to keep pace with the economic renaissance witnessed by the city and the kingdom's.

Achieving full alignment with Vision 2030 and relevant government agencies.

Supporting the kingdom's efforts in attracting the business sector and foreign talents by providing an

impeccable educational and family environment.
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As part of our transformation to a holding company

ARDCO signs an MoU with Riyadh Holding Company to create an entity to develop AlDirah markets

Palace of government » « AlMasmak Palace

Al-Muagiliyah =
Commercial Center

Al-Tameer 4
Commercial Center

W9 -I
& Sheikh Mohammed

King Fahd - Al Sheikh Mosque

Road The total area of the centers

170.000 m?

Residential space Commercial space Office space Total number of parking space

17.000 m* 140.000 m? 88.000 m* 3500
parking

Pioneering a Sector

. This agreement seeks to establish a pioneering entity in the development and property management
sectorin central Riyadh.

. Itis the result of decades of experience and the track record of both companies in real estate and asset
management in traditional markets.

. This partnership aims to contribute to Riyadh in solidifying its position as an economic, trade, and tourism
hub.

Location and Assets

e Theassets are located in a strategic location in the heart of historic Riyadh, near Qasr AlHukm.

e Thethree assets are situated on a total of 170 thousand m2 of land: AlTameer Center, AlMeaigliyah Center,
and AlDirah Markets.

e Theassets have a combined total of 88 thousand m2 of office space and 140 thousand m2 of retail space.

e Thetotal combined value of the assets is estimated between 1.2 Bn to 1.4 Bn SAR.

Economic Impact

» Improving integration between the three assets will allow for the raising of occupancy rates as well as
improving operational efficiency.

« (apitalizing on economies of scale in operation and maintenance will lead to lower costs for both
companies.

* Improving returns for both companies as well as maximizing total shareholder return.

Aligning with Vision 2030

«  Contributing to achieving the Riyadh City Strategy goals, which aims to attract over 42 million visitors by
2030 through developing tourist attraction areas.

e Achieving full integration with Vision 2030 across government entities.

« (Creating an entity that strives to develop the Qasr AlHukm area into an outstanding retail and tourism
destination.

A/ A/ A/ a4
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As part of our commitment to our 2023 slogan, “Leverage Capabilities for Growth"”, we have been working to cement
our values within our practice and build effective governance for our business. We set forth a plan to maximize

total shareholder return and raise operational efficiency, which led to raising the occupancy rates in the centers and
markets to 94%, and the increase of revenues in our centers and markets by 16% compared to 2022. Additionally,
Alaziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market revenue has increased by 40% as a result of our efforts.

ARDCO continuously seeks to improve through developing the infrastructure and urban landscape of our assets,
reviewing asset price strategies periodically, and digitizing our operational and leasing processes, which allows for
smooth integration with government systems and stakeholder follow-up.

We have also consolidated our institutional and organizational efforts through issuing civil defense licenses,
reviewing global initiatives to implement best practices, and cooperating with the third sector, signing many
agreements to support Saudization in our sectors, and providing electronic payment options for businesses in
our market. Finally, the Oteigah Dates Season launched its second edition in 2023, attracting more than 800,000
visitors within four months. We plan to continue its evolution as it becomes a starting point towards several
seasons for various types of fresh produce throughout the Kingdom.

. Occupancy rate increased to 95% in 2023 from 93% in 2022, largely due to an increase in occupancy in
Oteigah Central Market from 67% to 95%.

. Market revenue increased by 35.2 Mn SAR from 2022 to 2023 [94 Mn SAR in 2022 t0 129.2 Mn SAR in 2023).

. Increased recurring revenue by 16% from 2022 to 2023 through reviewing pricing strategy, introducing
new leasable units, and utilizing coupons.

. Obtained civil defense licenses for all our assets, contributing to the raise in occupancy rates.

. Launched the second edition of the Oteigah Dates Season in Oteigah Central Market, which saw over 800
thousand visitors in comparison to 300 thousand in the first edition, the trading of over 14 thousand tons
of dates, renting units to over 70 merchants, and increased visitor satisfaction. This edition also saw an
improvement in financial sustainability by obtaining sponsorships amounting to over 1Mn SAR.

800 14 +/0

Visitors (Thousands)

tons of dates [thousands) Traders

Better cooperation and alignment with MEWA by achieving agreement requirements and partnering
across multiple initiatives

Developed an operational and leasing program across all centers and markets to facilitate connectivity
with other government and financial systems, allowing access to data and information to support
decision making.

Developed a digital platform allowing merchants and partners in AlAziziyah Central Market to view
rentable units, prices, and contact the market management team.

Signed agreements with 4 partners across multiple channels, including Jahez [sponsorship and logistical
cooperation in Oteigah Dates Season), Monshaat and Social Development Bank [Saudization initiatives),
Neoleap (implementation of electronic payment systems), and Khairat [community initiatives)

Office building

Otaigah Market 95%

AlTameer Wholesale Center

Riyadh market

Public Transport Center

pladzeh Pt

Vegetable Market

CarAuction

Total



Inan unprecedented mannerin 2023, ARDCO continued its approach in maintaining the financial strength and raising
its recurring operating revenues. The company also further developed its business through:

 Revising financial procedures, allowing for better monitoring and improvement of performance. [Via periodic
financialreports for centers and markets, capital expenditure reports, occupancy rate reports, and pricing strategy
for operational and leasing activities).

+ Addressing and consolidating legacy issues, which positively impacted decision-making through providing
important context for previous cases.

» Developing and automating models for the 2024 budget across all ARDCO departments and divisions.

» Complying with the Capital Market Authority's laws, policies, and procedures without incurring any violations.

o Completion of all zakat procedures in a timely manner.

« Settling outstanding financial disputes for some of our assets, leading to a significant rise in our occupancy rates.

* Revising and consolidating our internal collection system and developing a clear mechanism, contributing to a
significant increase in our operating rates and collecting over 117 Mn SAR during the previous period.

« Consolidating and reviewing all legal cases in conjunction with the legal department and our centers and
markets, leading to settling 21 cases in our favor and receiving approximately 950 thousand SAR in 2023. We
were also able to secure final rulings for the company in 22 pending cases, with further work underway to collect
2.2 Mn SAR as a result.

« Building aninstitutional relationship with a wide segment of Saudi banks and financial advisors.

In 2023, ARDCO's legal department played a key role in protecting the rights and interests of the company against
other parties, holding the responsibility of handling any disputes that may have arisen from any actions or decisions
taken by the company. In addition to this key role, the department also consulted and advised the top management
in all trade and legal matters that the company had faced.

At ARDCO, we worked to attract a well-integrated workforce and develop their skills and capabilities in order to
achieve our corporate objectives and priorities in 2023.

Through digitization, we adopted cutting-edge technology across various workflows, gathering and analyzing
data to monitor and follow up on improvement and expansion opportunities, digitizing most processes and
correspondences, and developing applications to support our business. This helped raise productivity and increase
operating efficiency to allow us to reach our goals and aspirations.

At ARDCO, it was our utmost priority to make our work environment highly engaging and professional to attract and
build an integrated working team. We have set a plan to further develop our corporate culture during 2024 across
four key pillars:

At ARDCO, we believe that, in order to achieve ambitious goals and aspirations, high-level competencies and skills
are key by taking charge and driving the company towards our ambitions. As such, we attracted 15 highly competent
individuals for 2023 across various corporate functions, with expertise in the fields of real estate development, asset
management, and financial investments. Additionally, we developed a workforce plan as well as a roadmap to
improve employee efficiency.

During 2023. ARDCO diligently worked to advance its efforts to nationalize its workforce, increasing the percentage
of Saudization from 52% to 75%, resulting in a raise from a medium green rating to platinum in the Nitagat program.
We are committed to empowering our female workforce and fostering their growth within our organization. For the
firsttime in our company's history. we have appointed female talent ina leadership position.We have also raised
women participation in our business from 4.4% to 8%.

e Increased our Saudi workforce from 52% in 2022 to 75% in 2023, raising our rating from medium green to
platinum in the Nitagat program.

2022 medium green

2023 75% platinum

* Digitized and documented 93% of employee contracts on the Qiwa platform in 2023, up from 35% last year.

93%

* Increased the percentage of females in the company from 4.4% in 2022 to 8% in 2023.

I
X

Recruitment . .
Saudization AIEIEN

15 Platinum inclusion

Male and female on Nitaqat 7 3 % 8 %

employee



At ARDCO, we were able to develop new operational and leasing systems for our central markets, Public
Transportation Center, and car auction, allowing tenants to benefit from digitized services, such as information 2
on leasable units, rent payment, and other services. The ZATCA application was also launched to allow better

integration with the Zakat, Tax, and Customs Authority. Additionally, to support the consolidation of all invoices
and digitize administrative communications, we introduced the administrative communications system (CTSC] ©
as well as a digital archiving system for files across all departments.

» Developed new operational systems for all centers and markets without interrupting existing systems to allow
for a smooth transition of workflow.

« Revised, digitized, and automated more than 26 financial and administrative procedures (including qualification,
contracting, awarding, etc.).

@)
« Developed adigital platform for AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market to allow tenants to register employees and F o
vehicles, purchase coupons, and generate reports. 5
-
¢ Developed dashboards to analyze and display real estate management and market statistics. gy
» Automated more than 19 procedures for Shared Services, Financial, and Real Estate sectors within the company, N
with key examples being: e e —
& '
7 '
Fully transitioned all Fully transitioned all our . 4 AP z
. . Archived all company Automated employee i
our internal processes to Employee self-service . b
. . files. salary systems. Rir &
Dynamics365. [ESS] to Dynamics365 el
|
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Digitized and automated 'l'_ll P
Digitized and automated  real estate operational . f'*'-, 1 ;
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07. Corporate Social Responsibility & Community Partnership

At ARDCO, we hold in high regard the importance of establishing a tangible presence through social responsibility.
We have implemented various key initiatives in AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market, including:

@

Third Sector Cooperation Initiative

ina
@qulmm%a

» Toreduce food waste and ensure that it reaches those who need it, we have cooperated with AlBr Charity, Nemah

e e |

Association, and Khayrat Association so that the company would support and finance the collection of surplus
food and vegetables in the Oteigah and AlAziziyah Central Markets and deliver them to those in need.

» We have also provided a designated section for the Nemah Association during Oteigah Dates Season for four
months to collect surplus dates and deliver them to those in need.

Facts and figures about the initiative

Aziziya branch

Beneficiary families Baskets Total weigh
3,344 3,344 74,000
family Basket kilo
Atiqa branch
Beneficiary families Baskets Total weigh

L4, Li, 1197

family Basket kilo

Total statistics of vegetables and fruits preserved in the Aziziyah and Ateeqa branches

3,399 3,399 75,000

family Basket Kilo

Entrepreneurial Support in Public Good Services Initiative

ARDCO signed an agreement with Monshaat and the Social Development Bank to establish an initiative to enable
entrepreneurs and self-employed individuals to enter public good services markets through qualification and

training, along with financial support from the Social Development Bank.

T o
o [Soo
¢_’l.Lu.LO tclaindlasoiiliel
monsha'at SGCIAL DEVELOPMENT BANK

Saudization and Ease of Market Entry Initiative

At ARDCO, we provide on-the-job training for Saudi talents in our fruits & vegetables markets. We also provide a 50%
discount on courses for Saudis through this initiative to empower entrepreneurs in public good services markets, as
well as discounts of up to 10% on the annual rent for all refrigeration unit tenants (87 tenants] if they commit to fully
employing Saudis.

02.Overview




Opportunities and Challenges

We believe that today, after three decades of our endeavors, efforts, and optimizing our capabilities, ARDCO has
achieved a strong position in the market. This is a result of opportunities in the real estate development sector,
embodying our vision, mission, and drive to achieve our strategic objectives to elevate human well-fare. We also
believe that the key to further enhancing our position is to plan for the future in order to confront all potential
challenges.As our goals and responsibility rise, so do the challenges. As such, we must overcome and look past each
challenge to the potential achievements ahead.

Among the opportunities we wish to seize are:

e Qurtransformation into a holding company as we mature our businesses in all our sectors.

* The upholding of sustainability principles, underlining all efforts we must take to achieve this goal.

» Deepening our partnerships with regulatory entities, and building strategic companies with other entities.

« Investing in expected growth opportunities in residential commercial, education, logistical services,
infrastructure, and public good services).

The challenges and difficulties to overcome:

« Attracting, Attracting. developing and retaining capable talents.

e Structuring investments via acquiring financing and bank facilities due to unstable interest rates.

« Countering inflation resulting in high prices of land and building materials.
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Financial
Results

Technical development, digital transformation, and exceptional financial
results lead to unprecedented operating revenues for our centers and
markets since the company's inception.
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“Through God's grace, operating income grew to reach 339 Mn SAR, an
increase of 31% fromthe previousyear, while totalrevenuesreached 486 Mn
SAR, anincrease of 3% from the previous year. This is despite the decrease
in income from Tanal Real Estate Investment & Development Company
(Affiliate Company] by 49% as a result of the decrease in the volume of land
sales compared to the previous year, while a netincome of 271Mn SAR was
achieved.”

| Results & Indicators Highlights 2023

Profit Before

0T Introduction

Interest & Zakat Total Revenues Operating'Revenues

(Mn SAR] (Mn SAR] (Mn SAR]

294 4386 339

02 Overview

“In 2023, the company put into action key successful strategies to
strengthen its financial position and increase its recurring operating
revenues to unprecedented levels., which had the impact of improving
services and increasing the occupancy rate to 94%. This was done

by expanding capital spending in infrastructure and operational and
administrative systems, as well as attracting key talents, achieving an
increasein operatingrevenues by 39 Mn SAR,and anincrease in operating
profit and other revenues by 71 Mn SAR, an increase of 58% over the

previous year."

Capital
Expenditures
(Mn SAR]

42

Return on Average
Invested Capital

12%

Earnings perShareiin Riyals
(Reduced Basic)

1.52

Net Cash Generated
By Operating Activities
(Mn SAR]

226

Dividends Paid in 2023
Riyals per Share

0.50

Net Income
(MnSAR]

271

Dividends Paid in 2023
(Mn SAR]

89
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Income Statement Summary

I Company Performance

Mn SAR

Year ending December 31

Annual Report 2023 - Riyadh Development Company

ARDCO's performance during 2023 was achieved through sustainable growth in our revenues from All amounts in millions unless stated otherwise Percentage 2022 2023
. - . — Change
operational activities, as well as the optimal utilization of our assets.
Operating & Other Revenues 38% 281 389
Summary of 2023 Financial Results Total Costs 23% 158 195
Total Operating Profit & Other Income 58% 123 194
Revenues from Centers & Murabaha Costs of operating activities Share from Associate Companies Profits -49% 190 97
(Mn SAR] (Mn SAR)
Income before Zakat -71% 313 291
389 Zakat 54% 13 20
281 126
Net Income -10% 300 271
2022 2023 2022 2023

General and administrative expenses

(Mn SAR] (Mn SAR]
194
<
2022 2023 2022 2023 q >
Tanal Profits Net profit > <
(Mn SAR) (Mn SAR) < >
300
271
97 < >
2022 2023 2022 2023 D 4

Operating profit
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Revenuesincreased by 38% at approximately 108 Mn SARin 2023, from 281Mn SAR at the end of 2022 t0 389 Mn SAR
atthe end of 2023. This is attributed to the significant growth in sustainable operating revenues during 2023, as well
as the optimal utilization of ARDCO'’s assets and rise in occupancy rates within our centers and markets.

In 2023, the public good services sector saw a growth in revenues by 19% at approximately 22 Mn SAR as a result of
the creation of new revenue sources within the market and an increase in leasing revenues.

The commercial centers sector also recorded a growth in revenues of approximately 12% at 17 Mn SAR as a result
of the rise in occupancy rates, reaching 94%, which is an unprecedented achievement. Oteigah Central Market in
particular saw its occupancy rate reach 95% by the end of 2023 compared to 62% in the previous year. In addition to
the increase in leasing income. AlTameer International Car Auction also witnessed a growth in revenues beginning
from Q4 2023, as a driving school began operating towards the end of 2023. We have also attracted a number of
financial institutions to operate within the auction.

The company was also able to utilize its for-sale lands and achieve revenues of approximately 41 Mn SAR by selling
part of its underutilized lands in Tilal AlRiyadh, which was purchased and developed in 2002.

The company was also able to utilize available cash and achieve an increase in Islamic Murabaha revenues by
approximately 17 Mn SAR, reaching 38 Mn SAR in 2023, compared to 21 Mn SAR in 2022 as a result of the rise in
interest rates.

Total costs amounted to 195 Mn SAR for the year ending in December 31, 2023, compared to 158 Mn SAR for the
year ending December 31, 2022. The 23% increase is due to higher maintenance costs, as we contracted a new
maintenance and cleaning contractor for the company's markets and centers. This resulted in raising and improving
the operational efficiency of our buildings and infrastructure, which in turn led to raising occupancy rates and
improving customer experience, as well as obtaining the necessary government licenses to carry out our activities.
ARDCO also continued its strategy in attracting high quality talents to drive forth our operational plans and achieve
the company's strategic goals. In addition, we continued to build provisions for doubtful debts. In 2022 we reviewed
all customer balances since the company's inception, resulting in the formation of provisions of approximately 13 Mn
SAR in 2022 and approximately 12.5 Mn SAR in 2023, commensurate with the ages of the debts in question.

Our share in the profits of Tanal, an associate company, amounted to approximately 97 Mn SAR for the year ending
on December 31,2023, compared to 190 Mn SAR for the year ending on December 31,2022, despite the increase in the
average price per square meter during the year 2023. The decrease of 49% is attributed to the decrease in Tanal land
sales.As for other lands, approximately 132 thousand m2 were sold at the end of 2023, compared to 312 thousand m2
atthe end of 2022.

Net income before zakat amounted to approximately 291 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31, 2023, compared
to 313 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31,2022, a 7% decrease. This decrease of 22 Mn SAR is mainly attributed
to a decrease in the company’s share of profits in Tanal, which amounted to 93 Mn SAR. This decrease was offset by
anincrease in profits from the company'’s activities, amounting to 72 Mn SAR.

Zakat forthe yearamounted to 20 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31,2023, compared to 13 Mn SAR for the year
ending December31,2022.

Total netincome

300 (Mn SAR] 271 [Mn SAR]
174
. Net profit without Tanal Tanal Profits
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Allamounts in millions unless stated otherwise

Total assets

Property rights

Total liabilities

Material changes in assets
Projects underimplementation
Long terminvestments

Trade receivables

Short term investments
Substantial changes in liabilities

Payables - Attameer International Car Auction

Mn SAR

Year Ending December 31

2023 2022 Percentage
Change
2,792 2,598 7.5%
2,381 2198 8%
AL 400 3%
20 2 900%
600 185 224%
68 98 -31%
270 460 -41%
22 1 100%

Totalassetsamounted to 2,792 millionriyals as of December 31,2023, compared to 2598 million riyals as of December
31,2022.This change is largely due to an increase in long-term investments and projects underimplementation, and
this was offset by a decrease in short-term investments and trade receivables.

Theincreasein long-terminvestments and the decrease in short-terminvestments reflects the optimal exploitation
of cash available in long-term Islamic Murabaha to achieve higher returns as a result of the rise in interest rates.

The increase in projects under implementation also reflects the increase in capital expenditures in the company's
centers and markets, as the projects diversified, some of which are related to the development of new income-
generating activities, such as the meat market and the seasonal tent in Otaigah Central Market, such as the cold
storage in the AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market. The company also spent capital on digital transformation in
internal transactions and developed all operational systems for centers and markets, automating them and linking
them with the ERP system, which contributed to reducing human intervention and raising levels of internal control,
as well as the accuracy and ease of obtaining the information necessary to make appropriate decisions at the right

time.

The decrease in trade receivables balances is also due to the high collection rates during the last period, as the
company intensified efforts, provided the necessary resources, and developed internal policies and procedures
to improve collection levels, in addition to creating allocations commensurate with the age of the debts and their
collectability.

Total equity amounted to 2,381 million Saudiriyals as of December 31,2023, compared to 2,198 million as of December
31,2022, an increase of 183 million, or 8%. This increase is mainly due to the net income collected during the year,
partially offset by declared dividend payout of 88.8 million..

Total liabilities amounted to 411 million Saudi riyals as of December 31,2023, compared to 400 million as of December
31,2022.This change is due to the increase in payables resulting from financial institutions' receivables for cars sold
in December 2023 at car auctions, in addition to the zakat due for the year 2023.
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Mn SAR

Year Ending December 31

Allamounts in millions unless stated otherwise 2023 2022 Percentage
Change
Net cash generated from operating activities 226 12 101%
Net cash used in investment activities 149 -133 212%
Net cash used in finance activities -95 -1 9400%
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 314 35 800%

*  Deposits due within 3 months from the date of deposit, amounting to 270 million Saudi riyals, were classified under cash and cash equivalents.

Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to 226 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31, 2023,

compared to 12 Mn in 2022. The increase of 114 Mn reflects the increase in operating revenues resulting from
increased occupancy rates in ARDCO's markets and centers, in addition to a significant improvement in collection
levels in 2023.

Net cash used in investment activities amounted to 121 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31,2023, compared to
132Mnin 2022.

Net cash used in finance activities amounted to 95 Mn SAR for the year ending December 31,2023, compared to 1Mn
in 2022.The difference is mainly due to the reduction of capital from the company's share in Tanal in 2022.

226

12

2022 2023

. Cash flows from operating activities Estimated cash flow from TANAL

Information on each sector relates to the ARDCO's scope and business, which we relied on to prepare our financial
information.

ARDCO's markets and centers are divided into:
e Public good services sector, including AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market.

« Commercial centers sector includes Riyadh Market, Public Transportation Center, AlTameer Wholesale Center,
Oteigah Central Market, AlBatha Meat and Vegetable Market, AlTameer International Car Auction, and an office
building.

e Land Sales sector.

Total net income from principal activities

167 (Mn SAR] 213 (Mn SAR]
102
2022 2023
Lands Commercial Centers . Public benefit



Mn SAR

Year Ending December 31

Allamounts in millions unless stated otherwise 2023 2022
Revenue 135.3 13,5
Operating Expenses 25 15,5
NetIncome 110.3 98

Net Value of Invested Assets 84.5 85.3
Occupancy Rate 98% 96%

The public good services sector witnessed an exceptional growth in revenues in 2023 by 22 Mn SAR, at a rate 0of 19%
compared to 2022, as new revenue sources were created and occupancy rates increased, in addition to an increase
in rental and operating revenues compared to 2022.

Operating costs also increased by approximately 9.5 Mn SAR, as we invested in attracting top tier talents to
develop our markets and achieve sustainable growth. In addition, we contracted with a new service provider with
extensive experience to provide maintenance and cleaning services, which contributed to raising the efficiency of
our buildings, improving cleanliness levels, obtaining necessary government licenses to carry out activities, and
improving customer experience within the markets. This reflected positively on occupancy rates and the growth of
the market's total profit by 12.3 Mn during 2023, at a rate of 13% over 2022.

ARDCO also set forth a plan through which we aspire to realize even more successes and achievements, investing
our efforts into making optimal use of our capabilities through:

« Consolidating relationships with traders and dealers in the market by periodically holding meetings to receive
feedback and implement suggestions.

» Studying the market's current master plan in order to improve operational capacity.
» Establishing global partnerships to identify best practices and transfer knowledge in the fresh produce sector.
« Working to establish principles of sustainability, raise quality standards, and further support local produce.

+ Developing operational systems to keep pace with market demands and linking them with the company's ERP
system.

Mn SAR

Year Ending December 31

Allamounts in millions unless stated otherwise 2023 2022
Revenue 162.5 145
Operating Expenses 97 76
NetIncome 65.5 69
Net Value of Invested Assets 1168 1.295
Occupancy Rate 91% 82%

During 2023, ARDCO paid special attention to raising the operational efficiency of all our markets. By repurposing
and capitalizing on underutilized spaces opportunistically and creating new, sustainable revenue sources for the
company. This contributed to an exceptional growth in revenues during 2023 by 17 Mn SAR, at a rate of 12% compared
to 2022. In addition, pricing policies and strategies were revised, which contributed to a significant increase in
occupancy rates during 2023, at a rate of 9% in all of the company's markets and centers, particularly Oteigah Central
Market, where occupancy rates increased from 62% to 95%. In addition, revenues from the office building were
recorded forthe entire year, as it was acquired in Q4 2022. The car auction also witnessed the introduction of a driving
school starting in the Q4 2023.

In 2023, the company also focused on raising the efficiency and quality of buildings, as it contracted with a company
with extensive experience to provide facility maintenance and cleaning services. All operational systems were
digitized and top tier talent was attracted to manage our centers, which contributed to obtaining the necessary
government licenses for our assets, as operational costs amounted to 94.5 Mn SAR in 2023.

Mn SAR

Year Ending December 31

Allamounts in millions unless stated otherwise 2023 2022
Revenue & Other Revenue 52.6 0
Cost of Land Sales 3.4 0
Net Revenue 49.2 0

We were able to capitalize on our underutilized investment assets available for sale and achieve revenues of
approximately 41 Mn SAR, by selling a portion of our Tilal AlRiyadh lands, which were purchased and developed in
2002.



Statement

Total Assets
Non-controlling Interests
Total Shareholder Equity

Total Liabilities

Statement

Operating and other Income

Total expenses

Total operating profit and otherincome
Share of associate companies profits
Income before tax

Zakat

Netincome

Financial statements for the past five years
Statement of financial position as of December 31

Mn SAR
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

27921 259774 2,434,222 236759 233142

2,380.83 2197.64 2,021.24 1.98110 1.927.91

411,28 400,10 412,98 386,49 403,51

Financial statements for the past five years
Statement of financial position as of December 31

Mn SAR
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
389 281 256 244 263
195 158 155 94 97
194 123 101 150 166
97 190 226 87 -18
291 313 327 237 148
20 13 9 9 5
271 300 318 228 143

Financial statements for the past five years
Statement of financial position as of December 31

Mn SAR
Statement 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities 226 12 144 166 190
Cash flows from investment activities 149 -133 -135 74 21
Cash flows from financing activities -95 -1 -2 -64 179
*  Some figures in previous years have been reclassified to conform to the presentation for the current year.
*  Thedatais prepared in accordance with international accounting standards approved in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Statement of the statutory payments due value
Mn SAR
Statement 2023 2022 Description Reason
Government
Zakat and Tax 20.320.238 12,687.913  ZakatExpense i
requirement
Socialinsurance expenses
o . according to the labor Government
General Organization for Social Insurance 3.618.260 2,405,748 ) , i
systemin the Kingdom of ~ requirement
Saudi Arabia
Government
Chamber of Commerce and Industry 3,200 3150 Governmental fees i
requirement
Capital Market
Edaa Company 400,000 400,000  Annualfees Authority
requirement
Capital Market
Tadawul Company 355,795 420,909  Anuualfees Authority
requirement
. . Government
Saudi Authority for Intellectual Property 12,000 46,725 Trademark fees i
requirement
- Government
Ministry of Trade 1.501 1.825 Governmental fees i
requirement
Total 24,710,994 15,966,270



ARDCO has carried out various investment activities, as follows:

1.

Investment in the Saudi Heritage Hospitality Company (a closed Saudi joint stock company] with 2 million
shares with a total value of 20 Mn SAR, at 8% of the capital. The company paid 5 Mn as an installment of
its share in the investment, of which it recovered 1.2 Mn SAR within 2022. The company is currently under

liquidation.

On 05/20/2019, we partnered with Sumou Holding Company to establish Tanal Real Estate Investment and
Development Company (a limited liability company] with a capital of 100,000 Saudi riyals, with ARDCO owning
69.38% for Riyadh Development Company and Sumou Holding Company owning the remaining 30.62%. This
corresponds with the percentage each company owns in the AlThumama land, which constitutes an area of
3 Mn m2 forthe purpose of transferring the assets of the first Riyadh Real Estate Development Fund, in which
participation was closed on 10/15/2019. This was in order to complete the implementation of the remaining
infrastructure developments on the land in question. During Q2 2021, it was agreed to transfer 10% of Sumou
Holding Company'’s stake in Tanal to Sumou Real Estate Company. Accordingly, the ownership percentage in
Tanal Real Estate Investment and Development Company of Sumou Holding Company decreased to 20.62%
with Sumou Real Estate Company entering at 109 and ARDCQ's stake remaining the same. ARDCO's total
investments in Tanal amounted to 237,264,477 SAR as of 12/31/2022.

Investing in short-term Murabaha investment deposits with Alinma Bank amounting to 120 Mn SAR.
Investing in short-term Murabaha investment deposits with Al Rajhi Bank amounting to 150 Mn SAR.

Investing in long-term Murabaha investment deposits with Al Rajhi Bank amounting to 600 Mn SAR.
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Corporate Governance

In accordance to CMArequirements and regulations and our commitment to the ethical disclosure and transparency

practices, we divulge the following to our valued shareholders:

1:

Provisions of the Corporate Governance Regulations and
the extent of the company's compliance with them.

The following table is a detailed breakdown of our compliance with the Saudi Corporate Governance Regulations

issued by the Capital Market Authority.

Thirty-Seventh /
Training

Thirty-Ninth /
Evaluation

Thirty-Ninth /
Evaluation

Sixty-Seventh /
Risk Management
Committee
Establishment

Sixty-Ninth / Risk
Management
Committee
Meetings

Seventy-Fifth
b / Internal Audit
Report

2) Establish necessary mechanisms for both the members of the Board of
Directors and the Executive Management to attend training programs and
courses on an ongoing basis in order to acclimate their skills and knowledge in

areas related to the company's scope of work.

a) The Board of Directors, based on the proposal of the Nominations &
Remuneration Committee, shall establish the necessary mechanisms to
evaluate the performance of the Board on an annual basis, including its
members, committees, and executive management. This is done through
appropriate performance measurement indicators measuring success in
achieving the company's strategic objectives, risk management performance,
adequacy of internal control systems, etc, provided that strengths and
weaknesses are identified and addressed in a manner consistent with the

company's interest.

e) The Board of Directors shall make the necessary arrangements to have its

performance evaluated from a suitable third party every three years.

By decision of the company's Board of Directors, a committee called the Risk
Management Committee shall be formed, of which the chairman and majority
of its members shall include non-executive members of the Board of Directors.
Its members are required to have a sufficient level of knowledge of risk

management and financial affairs.

The Risk Management Committee meets periodically, at least every six

months,and whenever necessary.

b) The internal audit unit or department shall prepare and submit a written
report to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee regarding audit
operations conducted during the fiscal year and compare them with the
approved plan, indicating the reasons for any violation or deviation from the

plan, ifany, during the quarter following the end of the relevant fiscal year.

Thearticle servesas a
guidance currently. When
itis required, the company

willimplement it.

Evaluation is carried
out without identifying
performance

measurement indicators.

Thearticle servesas a
guidance currently. When
itis required, the company

willimplement it.

Risk control falls within
thejurisdiction of the

Audit Committee.

Therisk registeris
presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board

of Directors annually.

The internal audit system
requires that the report
be presented to the audit
committee, whereafter
the audit committee shall
present the key findings
to the Board of Directors.

Eighty-Second
/ Employee
Motivation

Eighty-Second
/ Employee
Motivation

Eighty-Second
/ Employee
Motivation

Eighty-Fourth /
Social Responsibility

Eighty-Fifth / Social
Work Initiatives

Eighty-Fifth / Social
Work Initiatives

Eighty-Fifth / Social
Work Initiatives

Eighty-Fifth / Social
Work Initiatives

Ninety-Second
/ Corporate
Governance
Committee
Establishment

1] Forming committees or holding specialized workshops to
gather ARDCO employee feedback and discuss issues and
topics related to key corporate decisions.

2] Programs for granting employees shares in the company
ora share of profits as well as retirement programs, in
addition to establishing an independent fund to finance said
programs.

3] Establishing social institutions for the company
employees.

The Ordinary General Assembly, based on a proposal from the
Board of Directors, establishes a policy that ensures balance
between its objectives and the objectives of the broader
community for the purpose of developing the social and
economic conditions of the community.

1) Setting measurement indicators linking the company's
performance in its social work initiatives, comparing such
efforts to other companies with a similar scope.

2] Disclosure of social responsibility objectives adopted
by the company to its employees, providing them with
awareness and education on the subject.

3] Disclosure of plans to achieve social responsibility in
periodic reports related to the company's activities.

4) Develop community awareness programs to bring
awareness to the company's social responsibility.

Should the Board of Directors form a committee specialized
in corporate governance, it must delegate to it the powers
stipulated in accordance with Article Ninety-Four of these
regulations. The committee must follow up on any issues
related to governance applications and provide the Board of
Directors with its reports and recommendations at minimum
on an annual basis.

The article servesas a
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

Thearticle servesasa
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

Thearticle servesasa
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

It will be adopted wheniitis

deemed mandatory.

The article servesas a
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

The article servesas a
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

Thearticle servesasa
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

Thearticle servesasa
guidance currently. When it
is required, the company will

implement it.

Monitoring governance

and updating its
requirements falls within
the responsibilities of the
legal department.The
company does not have

a governance committee.
When it is mandatory, it shall
be formed.
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2:

Board member classification, number of meetings held
during the year, attendance record, and names of joint
stock companies in which a board member is a member

of its board of directors.

A.Board of Directors Composition

Type of Membership

# Member Name

Executive Non-Executive Independent
: Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf. PhD y
Mayor of Riyadh Region Chairman of the Board
2 Eng.AliAbdullah AlHassoun* v
3 Sulaiman NasserAlHatlan v
4 Nayef lbrahim AlHudaithi v
5  Majed NasserAlsubeaei v
6 Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman AlHussein v
7 Fahad Abdullah AlKassim v
8  Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth v
9 General Organization for Social Insurance v

Representative

Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani*

*  Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun's membership ended with his resignation on 19-11-2023
*  Mr. Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani's membership began on 24-12-2023

B. Board Members' Current and Previous Positions
Qualifications. and Experience

Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf PhD

Current Positions
Mayor of Riyadh Region

Previous Positions
Royal Commission for Riyadh City

Qualifications and Experience

Specializes in city planning and management. Holds a Doctorate in city and regional
planning and management from the University of California and obtained a master's
degree from Harvard University in 2016 in urban planning and management and a
master's degree in architecture and urban design from Columbia University in New
York in 2014. In 2019, His Highness worked at the Royal Commission for Riyadh City. As
an urban design and studies consultant, he also worked in 2019 at Skidmore Owings &
Merrill (SOM] in Chicago, USA. In 2011, he worked as an architect in the Moriyama and
Tashima Urban Planning Office in Canada.

Majed Nasser Alsubeaei

Current Positions
Managing Director of Awaser Investment Company

Previous Positions
Diverse experience in the field of investments spanning more than 18 years in various
sectors, including his work as CEO of Nasser Al-Subaie and Sons Investment Company

Qualifications and Experience

Holds a Bachelor's degree in economics from King Saud University. He works as the
Managing Director of Awaser Investment Company He is also a board member of the
Saudi Automotive Services and Equipment Company (SASCO) as well as Mohammed
Ibrahim Alsubeaei Investment Company (MASIC). He also previously worked at Morgan
Stanley, and was a board member of the Islamic Bank of Brunei.

Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan

Current Positions
Chief of Staff at AlHilal Club Company

Previous Positions
CEO of Masar AINumou Investment Company

Qualifications and Experience
Holds a master's degree in professional accounting from the University of California
and holds a bachelor's degree in accounting from King Saud University.
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Abdul-llah Abdulrahman AlHussein

Current Positions
Member of the Board of Directors of Abdul-llah AlHussein and Partner Transport
Company and Imdad AlRaidah Cement Company.

Previous Positions
Deputy General Manager of Abdulrahman AlHussein Goods Transporation Company

Qualifications and Experience
Holds a bachelor's degree in economics and management from King Abdulaziz
University.

Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani

Current Positions
CEO and Managing Director of Bisan Commercialand Real Estate Investment Company.

Previous Positions
Vice President of Atar Holding Company

Qualifications and Experience

Holds a bachelor's degree in financial management from Prince Muhammad bin Fahd
University in 2018, in addition to completing several courses and workshops to further
develop his skills and specialization in the field.

*  Mr. Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani's membership began on 12-24-2023.

Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth

Current Positions
General Manager of Facilities Services at the General Organization for Social Insurance

Previous Positions
General Manager of the General Administration for Insurance Excellence at the General
Organization for Pension

Qualifications and Experience
Holds a master's degree in applied statistics from the University of Guelph, Canada, and
has worked ina number of positions at the General Organization for Pension.

Fahad Abdullah AlKassim

Current Positions
Chairman of the Board at AlKassim Accounting and Consulting Office

Previous Positions
Chairman of the Board at Amwal Financial Consulting Company

Qualifications and Experience

Holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accounting from King Saud University. Also completed a
Management and Leadership Program from Oxford University and has membership in
the boards of directors of a number of joint-stock companies.

Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi

Current Positions
Member of the Board of Directors of Najmat AlMadaen Group, which specializes in real
estate development

Previous Positions

Has a professional career of more than ten years in the real estate sector, working at
Colliers International in real estate consulting, evaluation and feasibility studies and at
Najmat AlMadaen Group in business development.

Qualifications and Experience
Holds a bachelor's degree in financial management from the University of Arizona.

Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun

Current Positions
Businessman

Previous Positions
CEO of ARDCO

Qualifications and Experience
Holds a Master’s degree in Architecture and Planning from the USA and has experience
in the field of real estate, investment, and architectural and engineering plans.

*  Eng.Ali AlHassoun's membership ended with his resignation on 19-11-2023.
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C. Companies in which ARDCO's board members are currently or

previously a director or board member.

Companies in which the board member is

Companies in which the board member was

# MemberName currently a director or board member Inside/Outside the Kingdom Legal Entity previously a director or board member Inside/Outside the Kingdom Legal Entity
Riyadh Holding Company Inside Holding - - -
Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD . . .
1 . ) . Riyadh Central Development Company Inside Holding - - -
Mayor of Riyadh Region Chairman of the Board
Remat AlRiyadh Development Company Inside Holding - - -
2 Eng.AliAbdullah AlHassoun AlAhsa Development Company Inside Listed Joint Stock
Sasco Inside Listed Joint Stock - - -
3 Majed Nasser Alsubeaei Mohammed Ibrahim Alsubeaei and Sons . .
Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Investment Company (Mask]
Savola Group Inside Listed Joint Stock Bank AlBilad Inside Listed Joint Stock
Dallah Health Services Company Inside Listed Joint Stock Nagel Company Inside Closed Joint Stock
Taibah Investment Company Inside Listed Joint Stock Saudi Post Corporation Inside Government Entity
Dur Hospitality Company Inside Listed Joint Stock Abdullatif Al-Issa Holding Group Inside Unlisted Joint Stock
Jarir Marketing Company Inside Listed Joint Stock AlRajhi Alfa Company Inside Limited Liability
AlArjan Projects Company Inside Closed Joint Stock Raj Real Estate Company Inside Limited Liability
Fincorp Financial Consulting Company Outside Closed Joint Stock (Egyptian) National General Automobile Company Inside Limited Liability
Dr. Mohammed Rashed AlFaqih and Partners ) ) ) . o . .
) Inside Closed Joint Stock Saudi Heritage Hospitality Company Inside Closed Joint Stock
4 Fahad Abdullah AlKassim Company
. . ) ) ) . ) . Closed Joint Stock
Abdullah Ibrahim Alsubeaei Holding Company Inside Closed Joint Stock Rakeen Najd International Company Inside
Gulf Basgat Company Inside Limited Liability - - -
Century 21 Real Estate Valuation Company Inside Limited Liability - - -
Al Rajhi United Investment Holding Company Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Areez Commercial Investment Company ) o L
o Inside Limited Liability - - -
Limited
Jarir Investment Company Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Mohammed Abdulaziz AlHabib and Sons . .
. Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Holding Company
Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth . ) .
5 o . . AlYamamah Cement Company Inside Listed Joint Stock - - -
General Organization for Social Insurance Representative
Maharah Human Resources Company Inside Listed Joint Stock - - -
Saudi Clay Pipe Production Company Inside Listed Joint Stock - - -
6 Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan
Light Buildings Company Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
AlHilal Club Investment Company Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Abdul-Ilah AlHussein and Partner Transport . o Lo
Inside Limited Liability - - -
7 Abdul-llah Abdulrahman AlHussein Company
AlRaid Cement Supply Company Inside Limited Liability - - -
8  Nayeflbrahim AlHudaithi Najmat AlMadaen Group Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Bisan Commercial and Real Estate Investment . .
Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
Company
Sumou Holding Company Inside Closed Joint Stock - - -
9 Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani
Murooj Jeddah Suburb Company Inside Limited Liability - - -
Atar Holding Inside Limited Liability - - -
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D. Executive Management's Current and Past Positions.

Qualifications. and Experience

Jehad Abdulrahman Alkadi
CEO

Previous Positions

Senior Director - General
Administration of Local Real Estate
Investments at the Public Investment
Fund

Dr.Wael Azzam Jundi
Chief Investment Officer

Previous Positions
CEO - SinoGulf (KSA)

Anas Tariq Najmi
Chief Strategy & Business
Development Officer

Previous Positions

Strategy Advisor & Head of City
Marketing & Investment Promotion at
the Royal Commission for Riyadh City

Mohammed Ahmed AlKulaib
Chief Financial Officer

Previous Positions
Chief Financial Officer - Arabian
Agricultural Services Company

Waleed Abdullah AlKharji
Chief Public Good Service Markets
Officer / Acting Chief Commercial
Centers  Officer

Previous Positions

General Supervisor of Centers and
Markets - Riyadh Development
Company.

Amer Mohammed AlShehri
Chief Shared Services Officer

Previous Positions
Senior Vice President of Human
Resources - SALIC

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a bachelor's degree in economics from King Saud
University in Riyadh and he holds a master's degree in executive
management and is a candidate for an executive diploma for
membership in boards of directors. He also completed a number
of executive coursesin a number of prestigious universities such
as Harvard Business School, London Business School, and |E
University in Madrid.

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a doctorate degree in economics from the University
of Liverpool in the United Kingdom, in addition to a master's
degree in finance with distinction from the same university
through the Chevening scholarship provided by the British
government for outstanding students in the Middle East. He
also holds a master's degree in political science and a bachelor's
degree in accounting and finance, in addition to the Leadership
Program for Executives from the University of Oxford in the
United Kingdom.

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a bachelor's degree in management information systems
from King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals. He also
completed programs on negotiation strategies and marketing
planning from INSEAD and Georgetown, respectively. He also
led several community programs within Prince's Charities and
the Mosaic Leadership Summit in London and Manchester,
United Kingdom, which focuses on community leadership.

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a bachelor's degree in accounting from King Faisal
University in 2003. He also holds a master's degree in business
administration, specializing in accounting, from Murray State
University, as well as a CMA certificate for management
accounting.

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a certificate in information systems from King Saud
University with more than 18 years of experience in development
processes for services and products, and more than ten years
of work in digital transformation work in information and
communications technology companies.

Qualifications & Experience

Holds a bachelor's degree in economics from King Saud
University in Riyadh with more than 17 years of experience in
human capital and corporate services in various industries
including investments, consulting companies, consumer goods,
manufacturing, and the public sector.

E. Board of Directors measures to inform its members.

particularly non-executives. of shareholders’ proposals and

comments on company performance.

During the first Board of Directors meeting, the Chairman informed all members, particularly non-executives, of any proposals and

comments received from shareholders regarding the company and its performance.
The Board of Directors met six times during the period from 01-01-2023 to 12-31-2023.

Meeting
First Second Third Fourth Fifth Sixth
Member Name AtteRna(iznce
12/02/2023 21/03/2023 08/05/2023 27/07/2023 26/10/2023 24/12/2023
Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf. PhD
1 ) . ) Present Present Present Present Absent Present 83%
Mayor of Riyadh Region Chairman of the Board
Membership
2 Eng.AliAbdullah AlHassoun Present Present Present Present Present e 83%
ende
3 Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan Absent Present Absent Present Present Present 66%
4 Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman AlHussein Present Present Present Present Present Absent 83%
5 Majed NasserAlsubeaei Present Present Present Present Present Present 100%
6 Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi Absent Present Present Present Present Present 83%
7  Fahad Abdullah AlKassim Present Present Present Absent Present Present 83%
Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth
8  General Organization for Social Insurance Present Present Present Present Present Present 100%

Representative

The means relied on by the Board of Directors to evaluate

the performance of itself and its committees and members.

and the external party that conducted the evaluation and its

relationship with the company. if any.

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee studies the strengths and weaknesses of the Board of Directors

whenever they arise, analyzes them, determines their causes, and proposes solutions to address them in order

benefits the company's interest and improves its performance.
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3:
The interest and rights of board members, senior
executives, their spouses and children.

Municipality Personal Municipality Personal
Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD
M f Riyadh Region Chai fthe Board 0.02% 0.02%
ayor of Riya egion Chairman of the Boart 35,554 0 35,554 0
Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan 0 0 0 0
Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun 37,510 0.02% Membership ended
Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman AlHussein 47140 0.03% 504,293 0.28%
Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi 0 0 0 0
Majed Nasser AlSubeaei 6,596,999 3.71% 8.669.773 4.88%
Fahad Abdullah AlKassim 2,000 0.001% 2,000 0.001%
GOSI Personal GOSI Personal
Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth
G 0 zation for Social | R . 4.95% 4.95%
eneral Organization for Social Insurance Representative 8.800.001 0 8.800.001 0

Abdulrahman Ayed AlQahtani Membership began 24/12/2023 25,000 0.01%
Jehad Abdulrahman Alkadi 0 0 0 0
Dr. Wael Azzam Jundi 7,000 0.004% 0 0
Anas Tarig Najmi 0 0 0 0
Mohammed Ahmed AlKulaib 0 0 0 0

5  Waleed Abdullah AlKharji 0 0 0 0

6 AmerMohammed AlShehri Joined in 2023 3,700 0.002%

4
Board Committee’s Responsibilities

1. Review and verify working capital sufficiency, applied business model, strategic plans and financing activities.
2. Review all works and express insights and recommendations before presenting them to the board.

3. Review investment, merger and acquisition, and partnership opportunities, and provide recommendations to
the board.

4. Review the impact of the proposed transactions and agreements on the company's financial position
statement, including assessing the required financing, impact on liquidity and debt ratios, and providing
recommendations to the board.

5. Review transition and integration procedures following any mergers or acquisitions during the initial three-
month period following the completion of formal procedures for any such agreement in order to ensure the
smooth and successful transition of the acquired asset into the company's scope and business.

6. The Executive Committee may perform any other tasks consistent with its purposes, tasks and responsibilities
and any other roles and responsibilities requested by the Board of Directors.

7. The committee, through its chairman, must submit a periodic report to the Board of Directors on all the
decisions, procedures, and actions it has undertaken.

8. The company shall bear any costs necessary for the committee to carry out its work after obtaining the
approval of the board.

| [y ]

Fahad Abdullah AlKassim
Board Member

Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi
Board Member Board Member

Majed Nasser Alsubeaei
Vice Chairman of the Board

The Executive Committee conducted six meetings from 01-01-2023 to 31-12-2023:

Majed Nasser Alsubeaei | Committee Head Present Present Present Present Present Present
Fahad Abdullah AlKassim | Member Present Present Present Present Present Present
Nayef lbrahim AlHudaithi | Member Present Present Present Present Present Present
Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth | Member Present Present Present Present Present Present



The committee studies matters within its jurisdiction or those referred to it by the board, and submit its
recommendations to the board to reach a decision or actions the decisions that the board has delegated uponit. The
committee must inform the board of its results or the decisions it actions or recommends.

The committee is responsible for monitoring the company's business and financial activities to verify its policies
and procedures and ensure the integrity of reports and financial statements and their internal control systems. The
committee’s specific tasks include the following:

Financial Reports

» Review preliminary quarterly and annual financial statements before they are presented to the Board of Directors
and express insights and recommendations to ensure theirintegrity, fairness,and transparency.

« Upon the Board's request, provide insights as to whether the board's annual report and the company'’s financial
statements are fair, balanced, and understandable and include all necessary information to allow shareholders
andinvestorstoaccurately evaluate the company's financial position, performance, business model, and strategy.

e Analyze any important or extraordinary matters included in financial reports and accounts.

« Researchanymattersraised by the company's financial director [orwhoeverassumes such duties), the company's
compliance officer,ortheauditor.

» Verify accounting estimates regarding material matters contained in financial reports.

¢ Review accounting policies adopted by the company and express insights and recommendations regarding
them to the Board of Directors.

Internal Audit:
» Review and analyze the company's internal, financial, and risk management systems.

e Supervise the plans and actions of the Internal Audit Department and verify their effectiveness in line with the
rules, regulations and professional standards and provide recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding
the appointment of the internal audit department director or an internal auditor and proposed compensation.

* Review internal audit reports and follow up on the implementation of corrective measures for observations
contained therein.

» Monitoring and supervising the performance and activities of the internal auditor and the internal audit
department in the company in order to verify required resource availability, as well as their effectiveness in
performing their assigned tasks. If the company does not have an internal auditor, the committee must submit
its recommendations to the board regarding the necessity of appointing one, if any.

* Ensureinternal auditimpartiality and enable it to carry out its roles and responsibilities effectively.

External Audit:

Provide recommendations to the board regarding nominations of external auditors, their dismissal, fees, and
performance evaluation, after ensuring their impartiality and reviewing the scope of work and terms of their
contracts.

Verify the impartiality and objectivity of the external auditor, taking into account the relevant rules and standards.

Review the company's auditor's work plan, verify the absence of transgression and deficiency in their actions,
verify that no tasks outside the scope of audit work are performed, and express any insights in relation to this.

Answer inquiries from the company's external auditor.

Study external auditor reports and observations on financial statements, express insights in relation to them, if
any, and follow up on any actions or decisions taken regarding them.

Commitment Guarantee

Review the results of reports from regulatory authorities and verify the actioning of any necessary measures
regarding them.

Supervise company compliance with the rules, regulations, policies and instructions related to our scope of work.

Review proposed contracts and transactions with related parties and potential conflicts of interest, if any, and
submit its recommendations thereon to the board.

Submits to the board any issues within its scope it deems necessary to action and provide recommendations on
required measures.

@)

# )
b
Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi Ahmed Abdullah AlKanhal Saled Mogbel AlKhalaf
Committee Chairman - Board Member Board Member External Member External Member

The Audit Committee conducted six meetings from 01-01-2023 to 31-12-2023:

Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan | Committee Chairman  Present Present Present Present Present Present
Saleh Mogbel AlKhalaf | Member Present Present Present Present Present Present
Ahmed Abdullah AlKanhal | Member Present Present Present Present Present Present

Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi | Member
Present Present Present Present Present Present



The committee is responsible for the following regarding remuneration:

Prepare a clear remuneration policy for board members and all committees related to the board and executive management
and present it to the Board of Directors for consideration prior to its approval by the General Assembly, provided that the policy
takes into account performance standards, their disclosure, and verification of their implementation.

Clarify the relationship of any rewards granted to the remuneration policy and indicate any deviation from this policy.
Periodically review the remuneration policy and evaluate its effectiveness in achieving its objectives.

Recommend to the Board the remuneration of its members, committees, and the company’s senior executives in accordance
with the approved policies and regulations.

Review and approve the CEQ's recommendations regarding financial rewards and benefits for senior executives, to be

implemented by the CEO as per the established policy mentioned in the first bullet point above.

The committee is responsible for the following regarding nominations:

Propose clear policies and qualifications for membership in the board and executive management.

Recommend to the Board of Directors to nominate or re-nominate members in accordance with the approved policies and
qualifications, taking into account to avoid nominating individuals who have previously been convicted of a crime involving breach
of trust.

Prepare a description of the competencies and qualifications required for board membership and executive management
positions.

Determine the time that a member must devote to the Board of Directors.

Review necessary skills and experience requirements for board membership and senior management positions on an annual
basis.

Review the structure of the board, the executive management, and their committees and present to the board should any changes
berecommended.

Verify the impartiality of independent board members and ensure the absence of any conflict of interest if the member is also a
board member in the board of another company.

Develop job descriptions for the board's executive members, non-executive members, independent members and senior
management.

Establish procedures to refill positions in the event of a vacancy within the board membership or senior management.

Identify the strengths and weaknesses of the board and propose solutions to address them consistent with the company'sinterest
through proposing the necessary mechanisms to evaluate the performance of the board, its members and committees on an
annual basis. The solutions should use appropriate performance measurement indicators linked to performance in achieving the
company's strategic objectives and the quality and adequacy of the internal control systems in order to identify strengths and
weaknesses. The results should be accompanied with a proposal to address them in line with the company's interest.

Review the remuneration of the board committees and recommend any amendments thereto and present them to the board for
approval.

Provide an appropriate level of training and education for new members of the Board and its committees regarding the company's
scope and achievements, enabling them to perform their work effectively.

Develop the necessary policies and procedures to allow each member of the board or executive management to attend training
programs and courses on an ongoing basis for the purpose of developing their skills and knowledge in areas related to the scope

or management of the company.

The committeeis also responsible for the following tasks and responsibilities:

Assist the Board of Directors in developing and reviewing the company's organizational structure.

Monitor the implementation of the employee grievances policy and ensure its effectiveness.

The board member remuneration may be a specific amount, a meeting attendance allowance, an expense allowance, in-kind
benefits, or a percentage of profits. It is permissible to combine two or more of these benefits, though not exceed what is stipulated
in the Companies Law and Regulations, in accordance with the policy and any amendments to it in the future.

The remuneration may be of varying amounts as per the policy. The annual report of the Board of Directors to the General Assembly
of Shareholders must include a comprehensive statement of all remunerations, expense allowances, and other benefits that
board members received during the fiscal year,and must also include a statement of anything received by board members in their
capacity as employees, administrators, or in exchange for technical, administrative, or consulting work (if any), and it should also
include a statement of the number of board sessions as well as the attendance records of each member from the date of the last
meeting of the General Assembly.

If the remuneration for board members is to be a percentage of profits, the provisions of Paragraph (2] of Article Seventy-Six of the
Companies Law and Article [45) of the Articles of Association must be taken into account, provided that it does not exceed the total
amount received by one board member of all financial and in-kind rewards and benefits, set at 500 thousand SAR annually.

Ensure that independent board members are not remunerated through a percentage of the profits achieved by the company orin
a manner that is based directly or indirectly on the company's profitability.

Each member of the board, including its chairman, is entitled to the following remunerations:

1. Anannual remuneration, provided that the total amount received by a member of the Board of Directors of financial orin-kind
rewards and benefits does not exceed the amount of 500 thousand SAR annually according to the regulations. The Chairman
of the Board and the heads of the committees may be granted additional remuneration in exchange for the responsibilities
and work assigned to them.

2. Aremuneration of three thousand SAR per attendance per session.
3. Traveland transportation allowance of three thousand SAR for those outside the meeting location city.

4. Profits-related remuneration: A specific percentage of net profits determined based on the recommendation of the
Nominations and Remuneration Committee if the company achieves its profits after fulfilling the regulatory conditions and
requirements. provided that the remuneration of the independent board members is not a percentage of the profits achieved
by the company or be based directly or indirectly on the company's profitability.

5. The lump sum annual remuneration amount for any board member may be reviewed from one period to another based on a
recommendation from the committee as per any variables related to performance, followed by receiving the approval of the
General Assembly of Shareholders.

6. The meeting attendance remuneration and any additional attendance allowance are paid on a quarterly basis, while the
annual lump sum bonus is paid after the approval of the General Assembly of Shareholders.

Each board committee member is entitled to the following remunerations:

1. Anannual lump sum of 150 thousand SAR.
2. Aremuneration of three thousand SAR per attendance per session.
3. Theannuallump sum and session attendance remuneration are paid on a quarterly basis.

Board and committee members are entitled to the following allowances and benefits:

1. The company bears the costs of travel tickets for board and committee members residing outside the city of Riyadh.

2. The company shall bear the costs of accommodation and tickets for all members of the board, committees and executive
management should the meeting be held outside the city of Riyadh. Alternatively, the member may be given a lump sum, if
preferred, provided that the amount does not exceed five thousand SAR.

3. Allround-trip travel tickets for board and committee members are to be in the first or business class.

The company also confirms that there is no deviation from this policy.
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Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman AlHussein Dr. Fahad Mousa AlZahrani Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth

Committee Head - Board Member External Party Board member

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee conducted four meetings from 01-01-2023 to 31-12-2023:

1 Abdul-llah Abdulrahman AlHussein | Committee Head Present Present Present
2 Dr. Fahad Mousa AlZahrani | Member Present Present Present
3 Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth | Member Present Present Present

Present

Present

Present

5:
Remuneration & Compensation

1 Salaries and compensation

2 Benefits

3 Periodic and annual rewards

4 Incentive plans

5 Any other compensation or in-kind benefits paid monthly or annually

8,824.194

6,584,461
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His Highness Prince
1 Faisalbin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD
Riyadh Region Municipality

2 Majed Nasser Alsubeaei

3 Fahad Abdullah AlKassim

4 Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan

Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman
AlHussein

6 Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi

Total

Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth
General Organization for Social
Insurance Representative

2 Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun

Total

15.000

18,000

15.000

12,000

15.000

15.000

90.000

18,000

15.000

33.000

18,000

18,000

18,000

12.000

36,000

84.000

30.000

30.000

First: Independent Members

Second

15,000

36,000

33,000

30,000

27.000

51,000

192.000

0

400,000

200.000

200.000

200.000

200.000

200,000

1.400.000

: Non-Executive Members

48,000

15,000

63.000

0

0

0

200,000

200.000

400,000

400,000

200.000

200.000

200,000

200,000

200,000

1.400.000

200,000

200.000

400,000

0

0

0

0

415,000

236,000

233,000

230,000

227,000

251,000

1,592,000

248,000

215,000

463,000
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Committee Member Remuneration

Fixed
Remunerations
(Excluding meeting

Name attendance) Meeting Attendance Total
Audit Committee Members
1 Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan 150,000 18,000 168,000
2 Saleh Mogbel AlKhalaf 150,000 18,000 168,000
3 Ahmed Abdullah AlKanhal 150.000 18.000 168,000
4 Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi 150,000 18,000 168,000
Total 600.000 72,000 672,000
Nominations and Remuneration Committee Members
1 Abdul-Ilah Abdulrahman AlHussein 150.000 12,000 162,000
2 Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth 150.000 12,000 162,000
3 Dr. Fahad Mousa AlZahrani 150,000 12,000 162,000
Total 450,000 36.000 486,000
Executive Committee Members
1 Majed Nasser Alsubeaei 150.000 18,000 168,000
2 Fahad Abdullah AlKassim 150,000 18,000 168,000
3 Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth 102,000 18,000 120.000
4 Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi 99,000 18.000 117.000
Total 501.000 72.000 573.000

b:
Annual Audit of Internal Control Procedures Outcomes

The external auditor, as part of their review of the company’s complete financial statements, evaluates the
internal control system, including the accounting system, from both theoretical and practical aspects, and
provides the company with a report that outlines any weaknesses in the system, if any, as well as methods
of addressing them. They are also provided with internal audit reports for the auditing period. Under the
supervision of the Audit Committee, the company's internal audit department carries out continuous financial,
operational, and technical audits to verify the effectiveness and efficiency of internal control systems in
protecting the company's assets, evaluating business risks,and measuring the performance quality. The internal
audit department submits its quarterly periodic reports to the audit committee, which includes results of the
company's internal control evaluation. The annual audit committee report has confirmed the effectiveness and
quality of the company's internal control procedures and did not detect any fundamental weaknesses in the
company's internal control system during 2023.

Board of Director’'s Declarations

The internal control

The account ,
system was Thereis no doubt

records are ,
, prepared on sound regarding the
prepared inan

principles and issuer’s ability to

appropriate and

implementedin an

carry out the audit.

o
2
D
Pl

proper manner. _
effective manner.
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Disclosure and Transparency Policy

ARDCO follows a strict policy of disclosure and transparency in order to ensure that all essential topics are disclosed
accurately and in a timely manner, including the company's financial position and performance. Our disclosure
and transparency policy is also considered one of our most important principles of governance. Accordingly, we
acknowledge the following:

¢ The company does not have any loans.

¢ There is no penalty, precautionary measure, or precautionary restriction imposed on the company by the
Authority orany supervisory, regulatory, or judicial body.

* None of the members of the Board of Directors, the CEO, the CFO, or any person related to them has any direct or
indirect interest in the business carried out on behalf of the company. Board of Directors members have neither
taken any loan nor has the company offered or guaranteed any member of the Board of Directors a loan or
commitment of any kind in exchange for other benefits.

¢ The company does not have any information regarding arrangements or agreements under which any member
of the Board of Directors or any of the senior executives has waived any salary or compensation.

e Thereare no contracts with parties related to members of the Board of Directors, the CEOQ, his assistants, the CFO,
orany of their relatives.

e The company does not have any information about arrangements or agreements under which any of the
company's shareholders waived their rights to profits.

* Thereare noinvestments or other reserves created for the benefit of any of the company's employees.

* The company has not reported any interest in a class of voting shares nor any change in those rights during the
most recent fiscal year.

* The company does not have debt instruments convertible into shares, nor any option rights, subscription rights
notes or similar rights.

+ Wehave notissued any conversion or subscription rights under debtinstruments convertible into shares, option
rights, subscription rights memorandums, or similar rights.

*  Wedonothave any redemption, purchase or cancellation of any redeemable debt instruments.

The company's Board of Directors recommended to the General Assembly to distribute cash dividends amounting
to 0.25 Saudi Riyal per share to the company's shareholders for the second half of the year 2023. In addition, a special
distribution of 0.25 Saudi Riyal per share as a result of selling a part of the company's available-for-sale land, making
the total distribution 0.50 Saudi Riyal per share. This is in line with the company's strategy, which aims to balance
between profit distribution and sustainable growth.

Prince Faisal bin Abdulaziz bin Ayyaf, PhD
Mayor of Riyadh Region Chairman of the Board

Apologies received

2 Eng.Ali Abdullah AlHassoun
3 Majed Alsubeaei
4 Fahad Abdullah AlKassim
5 Abdullah Mohammed AlBahouth - General Organization for Social Insurance Representative
6 Sulaiman Nasser AlHatlan
7 Abdul-llah Abdulrahman AlHussein
8 Nayef Ibrahim AlHudaithi
Percentage %?2.5 %?2.5 5%
Total L4 44444425 SAR L4444 44475 SAR 88,888,888.50 SAR
1 15/11/2023 Other
2 14/08/2023 Earnings File
3 03/05/2023 Earnings File
4 30/04/2023 General Assembly

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

10%

177777777 SAR



Risk Management

Risk management falls under the Internal Audit Department, whose responsibility is to manage company risks,
address them, and develop methods and policies to avoid or resolve them. In 2023, actions have been taken in
preparing the internal audit department's work charter and guide. Risks were also assessed, including all the
company's management and risk classification, in line with the company's strategy.

In addition, a review plan was prepared, constituting fiscal years 2023, 2024, and 2025. A draft policy for reporting
violations was also prepared. Whistleblowing Policy. It is worth noting that the International Standards for Internal
Auditing (II1A) were followed and awareness was raised within the company. As a result, a set of recommendations
were presented to activate control and oversight processes and improve daily workflow.

ARDCOQO's Potential Risks

The list of risks described below is not comprehensive. Itis possible that there are additional unknown risks that may
hinder our operations or risks that we may considerimmaterial.

ARDCO's business is based on two main lines: (1) public good services projects (2] real estate development projects and commercial
centers. The future income of these projects may be affected by the extent of their demand, which may result in a negative impact
on our operating results and financial condition. Our activity in public good services projects may also be affected by any changein
seasonal demand witnessed in Riyadh in particularand the Kingdom as a whole. However, we have turned to projects that provide

various services and goods in the fields of transportation, cars, vegetables, fruits, meat, and commercial centers, and their growth
correlates directly with Riyadh's population growth.

ARDCO's revenues from its centers and markets are collected via checks, bank deposits, and cash, with cash being the most

prevalent. However, we have addressed these risks by preparing accurate documentation cycles and digitizing and automating
our systems, monitoring, and follow-up to reduce such risks.

ARDCO relies on the high quality infrastructure of our assets, which has contributed to increasing our customers' confidence in us.
We have taken the necessary actions to protect our properties from natural disasters or terrorist incidents by applying the highest
levels of safety and security through regular maintenance and security protection. However, there cannot be any guarantee against
any hindering or obstruction of our business operations, whether directly or indirectly, by such obstacles.

We do not view any risk regarding Saudization at ARDCO as the company is classified as platinum according to the Ministry of
Labor's Nitagat system. However, there is no guarantee that we will be able to maintain the current Saudization rate. It is pertinent
to note, however, that we have accurate, modern and documented systems, regulations and procedures for all practical tasks, in
addition to adopting a policy that seeks to employ Saudis and keep the rate of Saudization high within the company.

Credit risk represents the inability of one party to fulfill its obligations, resulting in the other party incurring financial losses. ARDCO
constantly seeks to reduce credit risks through periodic follow-up of any outstanding receivables from other parties.

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of an entity being unable to secure the liquidity necessary to meet obligations
related to financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from the inability to sell a financial asset quickly and at a

value close to its fair value. ARDCO manages liquidity risks by ensuring that the necessary financing is available to
the company whenever needed.

Currency risk is the risk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in exchange rates of foreign
currencies. As our major transactions are made in SAR, we believe that currency risk is insignificant.

This represents the fair value at which an asset is exchanged or a liability is settled between willing parties under fair
negotiating terms. Since the company's financial statements are prepared according to the historical cost principle,
it may result in differences between the book value and the estimated fair value. We believe that the fair value of our
financial assets and liabilities is not significantly different from their carrying value.
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| Dividend Distribution Policy

As a consistent general policy, the Board of Directors proposes the following for the end of each fiscal year:

1.

Setaside 10% of the net profits to form a statutory reserve. The Ordinary General Assembly may halt this process
should the aforementioned reserve reach half of the company's capital.

From the remainder, a payment is then distributed to shareholders equal to 5% of the paid-up capital.

Following the above, 5% of the remainder is allocated to remunerate members of the Board of Directors, taking
into account the decisions orinstructions issued in this regard by the relevant authorities. The remainderis then
distributed to shareholders as an additional share in profits.

I Results of Internal Audit Procedures

ARDCO follows precise procedures of internal auditing, where the auditor reviews the company's final financial

statements. The most prominent results are as follows:

1.

Evaluated the internal control system, including the accounting system, from both a theoretical and practical
perspective, and provided the company with a report that outlines any weaknesses in the system and how to
address them.

Supervised the plans and actions of the Internal Audit Department and verify their effectiveness in line with
the rules, regulations and professional standards

Prepared internal audit department reports for the audit period.

The company’s internal audit department carried out continuous financial, operational, and technical
inspections under the supervision of the Audit Committee to verify the effectiveness and efficiency of internal
control systems in protecting the company's assets, evaluate business risks, and measure performance
efficiency.

The internal audit department submits quarterly reports to the Audit Committee, which details the results of
the company's internal control evaluation.

The Audit Committee supervised the performance and activities of the internal auditor and the internal audit
department to verify the required resource availability, as well as their effectiveness in performing their
assigned tasks.

Ensured internal audit impartiality and enabled it to carry out its roles and responsibilities effectively.

The Audit Committee's annual report confirmed the effectiveness and quality of the company’s internal
control procedures. No fundamental weaknesses were detected in the company's internal control system
during 2023.
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2023 Facts & Figures

2023 Financial Results Summary (Mn SAR]

— Commercial centers 163

18%"

Operational revenues 339

15% Public good services 135
16%"
==

L Land sales 41

Islamic murabaha revenues 38

73%"

Share of Tanal profits 97
-49%"

Otherrevenues 12

- Revenues
- Expenses

** Profit Margins

Net profit 291
Net profit before zakat 291

Total operating profit and - 55%**
otherincome 360 60%
Otherrevenues 486 2™
*
3%
Zakat 20

o 54%"
General and administrative expenses 69

3%

Salaries and wages 35

Operating Expenses 126 Professional fees and consultation 13

*
37% Doubtful debts 12

Board member remuneration 3

Depreciation 42
Legal cases 1

Other5

Maintenance and cleaning 29
Salaries and wages 24

Services 17
Security 10

Cost of land sales 3

— Other1

* Y/Y[vs2022]

This report includes some financial metrics that are not considered part of the International Financial Reporting
Standards. ARDCO presents these metrics to add context.

01. Introduction

03.Financial Results 02.Overview

04. Corporate Governance

05.Financial Statements




I 2023 Facts & Figures

Operations & Public Good Services Sector

Collection Efficiency

95%

AlAziziyah Fruits & Vegetable Market

Value of Traded Goods

3.92

(MnTon)

Car Auction

# of Car Sales Agreements

23

# of Auctions Held

152

Occupancy Rate in Centers

94.5%

Subscribers’ Cars

0.56

(Mn Car]

Value of Traded Cars

176.21

(Mn SAR]

# of Cars Sold

5,000

Public Transportation Center

Average Daily
Passengers

2,730

Domestic Trips

31,220

it of Passengers

]

[milion)

Hajj and Umrah Trips

3!770

Shopper's Cars

1.1

(Mn Car]

# of Bidding Cards

10,000

# of Auction Cars

36.6

(thousand]

International Trips

3,830

Oteigah Dates Season

# of Boxes Sold

1.6

(Mn SAR]

Daily Visitors

6,800

Dates Traded

214

[thousand tons])

Total Visitors

813

[thousand]

Strategy and Corporate Communication Sector

ARDCO Strategy
Launch

Completed

133%

of the 21 Initiatives
in the First Year
of the First Phase

Legal Affairs

Collected

2.47

(Mn SAR)
Through the Enforcement
Court

Raised and Monitored

102

Enforcement Verdicts

New Corporate Identity
Launch

Completed

66%

of the 21 Initiatives
in the First Phase

Collected

9.40

(Mn SAR]
From Enforcement Verdicts

Updated

650

Land Deeds

Developed

21

Strategic Initiatives
Over 3 Phases

Visited

-

Local, Regional, and
International
Public Good Service
Markets

Monitored and Handled

90

Cases
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

FINANMCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SALUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial staterments of Amyadh Development Company (the *Company™), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in sharcholder’s equity and statement of cash fows for
the vear then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a material accounting policy
information.

In our apanion, the sceompanying financial statements present fairly, in all matenial aspects, the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
viear then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standords that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia ("IFRS") and other standards and pronouncerments that are endorsed by the Saudi
Crrganization for Chartered and Professional Accountants,

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordanee with International Standards on Auditing (15As) that are endorsed
in the Kingdom of Soudi Arabia. Our responsibilitics under those standards are further descrnbed in the
“Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the International Coede of Ethics for Professional
Accountanis (including International Independence Standards) that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia that is relevant to our audit of the financial statements. We also have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with that Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obiained is
sufficient and appropriate o provide a basis for our opinion.

Kev Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our deseription of how our awdil addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities deseribed in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the sccompanying inancial stalements.

EY

Bullding a better
working world

INDEFENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

REVENUE

The Company’s revenues primary consists of | Our audit procedures included, among others, the
leasing and operating revenues, totaling SR 339.1 | following:
million for the vear end 31 December 2023,

o Assessed the Company's revenue recognition

We considered this as a key audit matter, as there policies for compliance with Intemational
are inherent risks about the accuracy of the Financial Reporting Standards  that  are
recorded revenues due to the impact of the terms endorsed in the Kingdom of Sandi Arabia and
aof the contracts on the revenue récognition other standards and pronouncements that are
process, which may affect its recording at a higher endorsed by the Sawdi Organiztion for
or lower value than its actoal value, in addition to Chartered and Professional Accountants.

the materiality of the amounts related to revenues,
o Tested the effectivencss of the design and

Please Refer to note (3) for a summary of material implementation of key controls over the
accennting pelicies reloted to revenwe recognition TEVCALLE TeCOEnition process,

¢ Performed  analvtical  procedures by
companng revente expectations with actual
results and analyzed vanances.

o Tested a sample of customer imvoices and
contracts to verify the revenue recording
PrOCEss.

# Recalculated a sample of lease income for a
sample of contracts to venfy the accuracy of
the recording,

o Assessed the adequacy of the relevant

| | disclosures in the financial statements,
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INDEFENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY) (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Ky Sudieien

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of investments propertics

As at 31 December 2023, invesiment properties
amounted to SR 1,490 million, represents 53% of
the Company's total assets, which are stated at
cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any.

For the purposes of impairment assessment
testing and the disclosure of the fair value in the
Company’s financial statements, investment
properiies are  valwed by an  accredited
independent external valuer properties expert
(“the Valuer™) who performs the valuation using
generally accepied valuation approaches and
methodology, based on  assumptions  and
estimates related to several factors affecting the
fair value of the investment properties.

We considered this as a key awdit matter as
impairment assessment testing of the investment
properties requires significant judgments by
management and also involves key estimates, in
addition te the materiality of the amounts
invaolved.

Please vefer ta note (3) for a summary of material
dcconnting  policies  reluted o investment
| properties and note (5) for details af investment

properties and fair values.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the
following:

¢ Assessed the Valuer's objectivity,
independence and experience.

o Compared the fair wvalue of investment
propertics at year end with the valuation
amounts  included in the valuation report
provided by the Valuer.

o Assess  the  wvaluation  approaches  and
methodology used by the Valuer,

¢ We evaluated, on a sample basis, the real estate
valuations camied out by the valuer, with the
help of our specialists, to help us evaluate the
reasonablencss of the key assumptions thal
were used to determine the fair values of the
myvestment ]'H"]I!L‘!"IIES.

* Checked the title deeds for the investment
properties.

o Assessed  the adequacy of the relevant
disclosures in the financial statements,

EY

Building a better
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INDEFPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) (Continued)

Other information included in the Company’s 2023 Annual Report
Other information consists of the information included in the Company's 2023 annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information in

its annual report. The Company’s 2023 annual report 1s expected to be made available to us after the date of

this auditor’s report.

Chur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thercon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is 1o read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and. in doing so. consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears o be materially misstated,

When we read the Company®s 2023 annual report, il we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter 1o those charged with governance,

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management 1s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other
standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional
Accountants, the provisions of the Companies’ Law and Company’s by-laws , and for such intemal control
as management delermines is necessary (o enable the preparation of finaneial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management cither intends to hguidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from muterinl misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an aulitors” report that includes our
opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is nol o guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will
always detect o matenal misstatemnent when it exists. Misstotements can arise from froud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected w inthience the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements,
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INDEFENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with the Intemational Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Armbia, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform andil procedures responsive 1o those risks, and obtain awdit
evidence that is sulTicient and appropriate to provide o basis for our opimion, The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control,

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order o design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, bul not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management”s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidenee obtained, whether a material unceriainty exisis related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadeguate, o
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obmined up to the date our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
15 4 ZOing concem,

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation,

We commumicate with those charged with governanee regarding, among other matiers, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit Mndings, including any significant deficiencies in intermal control
that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY) (Continued)

Anditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Wi also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken o eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determing those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when. in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

for Emst and Young Professional Services

il
O DA
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Fahad M. Altoaimi B e e e
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Certified Public Accountant
License No., (354)

Riyadh: | Ramadan 1445H
(11 March 2024)
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2023
1Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property. plant, and equipment
Investmeni propertics

Right of use Assets

Investiments properties under development
Investmenis designoted at FVOLC
Investment in un wesoci ale

Murshahs investment deposits - long term
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable, prepayments and other receivables
Murzbaha investment deposits — sl werm

Assets held for sale

Cash a1 banks

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Share capital

Statulory meserve

Retvined eurnings

Revaluation reserve of Investments designated a1 FVOCT
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Lewse liahilities

Emplovees” delined benefits obigations
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other pavables

Lease lighilities « current portion

Dhividends pay shle

Sakat provision

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILTIES

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

31 DECEMRER 31 DECEMBER
Nore 2023 022

4 1252499 9159447
i 1.4%0, 786,762 1.527.752.437
f 451133224 49,603,546
7 19,888,240 1,819,500
¥ 86919 QELH.920
9 131,264,477 231347588
12 AR, 04D, D 183,000, ()
1,406,564 .6 28 2.005.660,847
10 68 314,757 Q7518588
12 270,000,000 A O, OG0
13 1147695 -
14 44,981,796 34,555,510
AB5.544. 248 $42,074.09%
1,792 108,876 3.547,743.945
I5 171771770 1L71.777.770
It 155,081,438 127927 488
450,786,058 194,744.421
E B i2.813,070) (2.B13,0710)
1380,832,1% 2197636606
] 42,077.15%6 45,579,655
17 12,404.275 110.650.903
N T AT 6,239,560
& 249,654, 208 242,916,724
4] 6,009, 280 5,4 592
19 T4.251,132 T3917.517
m 16,850,429 21,033,942
385, TRE 149 145,867,779
411,276,680 400,107,339
2.792,108.876 3,597.743.945

— Mo

" Member of the Board of Directors

Chief Exccutive Offices

Chilef Financial (fficer And Chairman of the Audit Comminge Mr. Subeiman

Mr. Mohammed Alkulaib bin Masser
Al-Hartlan

The mtached notes (1) to (33) form an integral part of these financial sistements.

Mir. Jehad Abdul Rahman

Al-Kadi
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(AN Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stoted)

_Nowes 2023 2022
REVENUE 21 339, 185,405 258,897,034
Costs of revenue 22 (122.974.851) (B8, 712.220)
Giross profit 216,210,554 170,184,814
General and Administirative expenses 3 (69,102,952} (66, 6%6,445)
FProfit for the vear from main operations 147,107,602 103 488,569
Finance costs [ (2,707.289) (2,899,047
Mudarabah deposits income 12 37,912,988 21,596,059
Share of profit of an associate 9 97 498,489 190,465,858
Other moome 12,037,981 192 949
Net profit for the year before Zakat 291,859,771 313.044,178
Zakat 9 {20.320.238) (12,687,913}
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 271,539,533 300,356,265
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the
statement of profit or loss
Actuarial gains of employees’ benefit obligations 16 544,946 1129113
Met change in fair value of investments designated at FYOCT B - 8342217
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR 544,946 9.371,330
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 272,084,479 309,727,595
Earnings per share
Basic and diluted eamings per share from net profit for the vear
30 1.53 | 6%
heefibae of the Bosid.oF Disecsies Chier Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer And Chairman of the Audit Commitiee Mr. Suleiman Mr. Jehad Abdul Rahmian
Mr. Mohammed Alkulaib bin MNasser o 1-Kadi
Al-Hantlan Al

The attached notes (1) 1o (33) form an integral part of these financial statements.
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05. Financial Statements




Annual Report 2023 - Riyadh Development Company

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SALIM JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREFHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3 DECEMAER 2023
AL Amouns i Sandi Riyal wsbeis otheraine aatod)

Mevaluanon paere
aff Paverimeng
Rrtatmad deipuated af Tatar! vharreholdem’
Bt caplial | Diatiaiepeieivg ey | FVOOE rywity
Hsluner as w1 5 December 20210 1.7 ITT. 70 QT AT K59 F20.0%0 521 TR AR 192 1021242 58
e i (i the year - B0 S RS - LT 1Y
Unhew compehesaneg oo lof he vear . 1A% 1 2420 WITE B
TOTAL COMPHEHENSINVE INUOME FOR
THE YEAR - . S0l A5 ATE 2z i 309,727,595
Tranaferred 1o wEtuiory reserve - 10,005 A2 00T 420) .
Drwidends {Mons 1) = . (133.313,270) (133351.335)
Teansfierred o the sovahustion reserve af
imvestmeniy desigmned 50 FYOT o retained
eamimg [Nole 1) o . IR CETABE AT i
Balsmy @5 @i M Deormiser 2053 §LITT,TTI, 7 3T aTTARS P e PR | [RETERTE 2,197 &30 b
Balumce wy a1 50 Decembsr 2013 LTI 117,927 428 104,744,821 (EANN 0T 2,197 808, 508
et inooma fof the year . bl KA AT a IT1AN0 510
Uither comprehensive mome for de yesr . . A4 00k LETE T
TOTAL COMPREMENSINVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR - - ITLERAATY T84T
Transfemed b daldory icwrc . ITa%hREL AXTIER950) -
Ihividends (Note 19) - . FLL TR (REERE KKV
Translermed from ihe res sbastion sessrve of
mventmamiy dessgrsed ai FYOC] 10 netained
rarangs (Kot S) . oyt R B e T x
Halanes i 5l 3 Dhpewmber 223 1,777,778 155,081 438 50,70, D58 [EALAOTE) 2ARORNL TR
Chief Financial D Ficer Member of the Heand of Directars And Chammsin of the Auds Chvief Executive Offices
Mr. Mohammed ARudaib Commities  bir, Subciman bin Meser Al ilaitian Wir behad Abdul Rshmss Al-Kndi

rknluhod-hmtl;lnr_llll'mm ﬂxyﬂpﬂul these Tinang dal

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

Jo23 2022

OFPERATING ACTIVITIES
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 271,539,533 300,356,265
Adjustments:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment. investment properties and
right of use Assels 42,822,694 IB3R4.133
Finance costs 2,707,289 2,899,047
Murabahy deposits income (454,526) (17,225,690)
Share of profit of an associate (97, 498,489) (190,465 838)
Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment - (38,405)
Giains of sale of investment properties (37,842, 788) -
Provided for expected credit loss allowance B.504,112 11,933,638
Provided for employees benefit liabilities 4245315 2,124,199
Provided for Zakat 20,320,238 12,687,913

214,303,378 160,655,262
Chariges in working capital:
Accounts receivable, prepayments and other receivables 21,184,244 (24,134,829)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other pavables 6,737 480 (14,261 646)
Employees” defined benefit obligations paid (1,955,999) (913,781)
Zalcay provision paid (14,473,751} (9.306.257)
MNet cash Mows from operating sctivities 225,795,352 112,038,749
INVESTING ACTIVITES
Proceeds from liguidation and sale of investments designated at FVYOCT - 63,879,324
Proceeds from / {additions o) murabaha investment deposits 45,000,000 (275.000,000)
Purchase of investment properties {3,649, 080) (189,867 685)
Dividends received from an associate 91,581 600 272,780,692
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,854,698) (7, 318.63T)
Addition of investments properties under development (19.021.110) (1,812,000
Proceeds from sale of investments properties 41,359,395 i
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and Equipment - 41,126
Net cashflows from / (used in) investing activities 149,386,107 (132,497 180}
FINANCING ACTIVITES
Lease liabilities paid {6, 200,000) {6, 2000, Oe0y
Recovered from the additional capital reduction - 137473,752
Dividends (H8,555,173) (132.102,918)
Net cash used in financing activities (94,755,173) (B29,166)
Increase’ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 280,426,186 (21,287,597
Cash and cash equivalents a1 the beginning of the vear (Noie 24) 34,555,510 55,843,107
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Note 24) 314,981,796 34,555,510
Non-cash transactions
Transferred from investment properties under development to invesiment
properties 952,370 2. 100,650
Dividends payahle 33378 1230415
Change in fair value of investments designated mt FVOC] - 8242217

Pp— : ember of the Board of Directors And Chairman of Chief Executive Officer
el Financiel ki the Audit Commitice Mr. Suleiman bin Nasser Al- Mr. Jehad Abdul Rahman

Mr, Mohammed Alkulaib

Hamlzn
The attached notes (1) 1o (33) form an integral pant of these financial statements.

Al-Kadi
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY')
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2023
(ALl Armounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

1- COMPANY INFORMATION

Arrivindh Development Company (2 Saudi joint stock company) (hereinafler referred 1o as the *“Company™) was established
by Royal Decree No. M/2 dated 9 Safar 1414 H (corresponding to 28 July 1993), The Company is registered in the Kingdom
of Sawdi Arabia with Commercial Registration No. 10010124500 issued mn the city of Riyadh on 29 Dhu Al-Ch'dah 1414 H
{comesponding to 10 May 1994). The Company is listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange (Saudi Tadawul). The Company's
head office is located in Riyadh, King Fahd Road, Al-Dirh District, P. O, Box 94542, Riyadh 11614, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

The principal activitics of the Company are the purchase and sale of lands and real estate, its division, off-plan sales activities,
management and leasing of owned or leased out residential and non-residential properties, in addition to real estate
development of residential and commercial buildings using modern construction methods, as well as the whelesale and retail
sale of new and used private cars, including ambulances, minibuses and four-wheel drive vehicles.

1- BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
endorsed in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements endorsed by the Saudi Organization for
Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except investments in equity instruments at
fair value and the recognition of employee benefit liabilities at the present value of future liabilities using the expected credit
umnit method.

The financial statements are presented in Sauds Rivals (“SR”™), which is the Company’s functional currency, All amounts
have been rounded 1o the nearest Saudi Rival, unless otherwise indicated.

3= SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The summary of material accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing its financial statements are applicd
consistently as follows:

Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification.
Amn asset is current when it is:

+ Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating eycle;
# [Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period., or
» Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a hability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.
All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when it is:

# expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

#  due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

= the entity does not have an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the hability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

3 SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
The Company classifies all ather liabilities as non-current.

Cush and cash cquivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and other shori-term highly liquid investments if any, with matunties of
less than three months from the acquisition date.

Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale are recognized and measured in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 5
- Mon-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. An asset is classified as held for sale if it meets the criteria
specified in IFRS 3, indicating that it is expected to be sold within one year froms the financial statement’s date.

Assets held for sale are recognized at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the date of
classification as held for sale. The carrying amount of the asset is not depreciated or amortized once it is classified as held
for sale.

Measurement:

The carrying amount of assets held for sale is determined based on their histerical cost less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, adjusted for any revaluation surplus or deficit, where applicable.

Fair value less cosis 1o sell is determined based on the estimaied selling price in an amm's length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the estimated costs to sell.

Significant judgements and assumptions applied in determining assets held for sale, as well as the nature and extent of assets
classified as held for sale, are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures financial instruments such as investments in equity instruments at FYOCL, and investments at
FWTPL at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value 1= the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an ordery transaction between
markel participants at the measurement date. The far value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

#  In the principal market for the asset or liability; Or
*  In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or lability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial assets considers a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 1o another market participani that would use the asset in its highest
and best use,

The Company uses valuation techmiques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
fo measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY')

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(ALl Armounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continued)
Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

All assets and Liabilittes for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are classified within fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
while:

*#  Level 1: quoted {unadjusted) prices in an active market for identical assets or labilities.

*#  Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the for value measurement is
directly or mdirectly abservable,

#  Level 3: Valuation technigues for which the lowest level imput that is significant to the fair value measurement isn't
unohservable,

Investment propertics

Investment propertics include lands, buildings held by the company for rental or capital development, or bodh, Investment
propertics are initially measured at cost. The fair value is determined on the basis of an annual valuation by an independent
extermal valuer with recognized professional qualifications for the purpose of disclosure in the financial statements.

Investment propertics anc stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part
of the Invesiment propertics. When significani paris of investment properties are required fo be replaced at intervals, the
Company depreciates them separately based on their useful lives. Likewise, when a major mspection 15 performed, its cost
15 recognised in ihe carrying amount of the investments propertics as a replacement if the recognition cnteria are satisfied.
All paher repair and mainienance costs are recognized in statement of profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the
expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition
criteria related 1o recognised provision are satisfied.

Thie depreciation of butldings sccording to the straight-line method 15 calculated on the basis of their useful life by adopting
the following annual ratios:

Building 1.6 -T2

Investment lands mclude lands wholly owned by the company (except as mentioned in Note 5) that are carried ot cost plus
development expenses,

An item of investment properties and any material part s derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal, Any gain or loss anising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net dispesal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss for the
year when the asset is derccogmized. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of investments propertics
are reviewed at cach financial period end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Investment Properties under Development

Investment propertics under development are represented by the amount incurred on the establishment or purchase of
investment properties under development. And upon completion and as appropnate. it is transferred to investment
properties. Investment propertics under development are stated at cost and any impairment 15 reviewed annually (if
anyl.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continucd)

Property, Plant & Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment. When significamt parts of property and eguipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their useful lives, Likewise, when
a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the camying amount of the property and equipment as a replacement
if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset
afier 113 use 15 included in the cost of the respective asset of the recognition criteria related to recognized provision are
satisfied.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset as follows:

*  Tools and equipment 4 years
*  Furniture and Decoration 4 years
*  Computers 4 years
&  Motor vehicles 4 years

The useful life and depreciation method are periodically reviewed to ensure that the depreciation method and peried are
consisient with the expected economic benefits of property, plant and equipment.

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. For all such lease arrangements the
Company recognize right of use assets and lease liabilities except for the shori-term leases and leases of low value asseis as
follows:

Righi-CN Ulse Assets

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease habilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease Liabilines
recopnized, mitial direct costs incurred, and lease paymemts made at or before the commencement date less any lease
ncentives received, Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease
fterm, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject (o impairment.

Lease Liahiliies

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed pavments (including in-substanee fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease pavinents also include the exercise price of a purchase oplion
reasoasably certain (o be cxercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate, The vanable lease pavinents that do ot depend on an index of a
rate are recognized as expense in the penod on which the event or condition that riggers the payment occurs.

In calewlating the present value of lease payments, the Company wses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease 15 not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilitics is increased to reflect the sceretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carryving amount of lease liabilities s remeasured if there is o medification, a change n the lease term, o change
in the in-substance of fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment (0 purchase the underlying asset.
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3 SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued )
Short term leases and leases of low-value assels

The Company applies the shori-term lease recognition exemption o its shori-term leases of commercial buildings,
accommodations and offices (1.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
dio not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of commercial
buildings, accommodations and offices that are considered of low value (ie.. below SK 20.000). Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies The
considerations made m determining significant mfluence or joint contral are similar to those necessary to determine control
over subsidionies, The Company’s investments in an associte arg accounted for using the equity methed, and inateally
recognized wl cost.

Under the equity method, investment in an associate 15 imitially recognized at cost. The carryving amount of the investment
15 adjusted to recognize changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the associate since the scquisition date.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Company”s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change in OC]
of those investees is presented as part of the Company’s statement of comprehensive income. In addition, when there has
been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Company recognizes its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Company and the
associale are eliminated 1w the extent of the interest in the associate.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting peried as the Company. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting palicies in line with those of the Company,

Adter application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary 1o recognise an impairment loss on
its investment in its associate. At each reporting date the Company determines whether there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate is impaired. I there is such evidence, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognizes the loss in
*Company’s share in carnings of an associate” in the statement of profit or loss.

Upoa loss of significant influence over the associate the Company measures and recognizes any retained investment at its
fair value, difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of
the retained investment and proceeds disposal is recognized in the statement of profit or less,

Financial Instrumenis
A financial mstrament 15 any contract that gives nise 1o a Anancial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

First: Financial Asscis
The classification of financial assets depends on the Company's business mosdel for managing its financial assets and
the contractual terms of the cash flows. The Company classifies its financial assets as:

#  Financial assets measured atl amortized cost, or

»  Financial assets measured at fair value.

Gains or losses of assets measured at fair value are recognized through the statement of profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 DECEMBER 2023
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3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continucd)
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Initial Measurenent

Financial assets are measured initially at its fair value plus transaction cost. Transaction costs of financial assets carmied at
fair value through income statement are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
incurred.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows meet
the requirements (o be recognized as solely payment of principal and imerest (SPPI).

Aswhseguent Measirement
Diebt Instruments

The Company recognizes three classifications to subsequently measure its debt instruments,

e amoriized cost
Financial assets held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent Solely Pavments of Principal
and Interest (“SPPI™), are measured at amortized cost, A gain or loss on a debt investiment subsequently measured al
amortiped cost and net pard of a hedging relationship 15 recognired m the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognined or impaired, Imerest income from these financial assets is meluded in finance income
using the effective interest rate method,

o Foir value through (Wher Conprelaisive Ineome (FVITOCT)

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the Anancial assets, where the assets” cash flows
represent solely pavments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCT Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCL, except for the recognition of impaiment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses, which are recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive. When the financial asset is
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previeusly recognized in OCL, is reclassified from equity to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and recognized in oither revenues’ (expenses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other revenues/expense.

Fair value throvugh profit or loss (“FIVTPL")
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 1o be measured at fair value,
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely pavments of pnincipal and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, imespective of the business model.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carmied in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. This category includes
derivative financial instruments.

FEguity Instruments

The Company measures all equity investments at fair value and presents changes in fair value of equity investments in OCL.
Dividends from such investmenis continue 1o be recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established. There shall be no subsequent
reclassification of changes in fair value through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
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3 SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(Continued)

Financial instroments (continued)
Firsi: financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset or a part of a financial asset is derecognized when:

. Thie rights to receive cash lows from the asset have expired, Or
. the Company has transferred s rights 1o receive cash flows from the assel or has assaimed an obligation Lo pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a *pass-through” arrangement; and
A, The Company has translfered substantially all the risks and rewards of the assel, of
B. The Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but
has transferred contrel of the asset.

Impairment

The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit bosses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through other Comprehensive Income. ECLs are based on the difference between the coniraciual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are mtegral 1o the contractual terms.

ECL 15 recognized in two stages: For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant merease in credit nsk since
wnitial recognition, ECLs are provided for eredit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-
maonths {a 1 2-month ECL). eather for those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in

Credit nsk since initial recognition, an expected loss allowance 15 required over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade and other receivables, the Company applics a simplificd approach in caleulating ECLs. Therefore, the Company
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL3 at cach reporting date
afier forming a provision for accounts receivables poi expecied to be collected. The company has made a provision matrix
that 1= based on the expenence of prior credit losses, adjusted to future factors related to debtors and the economac
environment.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCT, the Company applies ithe low credit nsk simplification. Al every reporiing
date, the Company evaluates whether the debt instrument 15 considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
suppertable information that s available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Company reassesses
the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Company considers thit there is a significant increase in
credit nisk when contraciual payments are due for more than 60 1o %0 days more than the due date.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days. In some cases, the Company
may also consider that the financial asset 1o be in default when internal and external information indicates that the Company
15 nod probable not receive the full exisiing contraciual amounis before taking info account the credit improvements held by
the Company. A financial asset is written off in the case there is no reasonable expectation of from the contractual cash
lows,
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3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continud)
Financial instroments (continued)

Secomd: Financial Labilitics

nitial ition and measurement
Financial Labilities are classified under cither of the below two classes:

L Financial liabilitics at FY'TPL; and
- Other financial habilities measured at amortized cost using the EIR method.

The category of financial liabilitics at FVPL has two sub-categonies:

Designated: A financial liability that is designated by the entity as a liability at FVTPL upon initial recognition; and
Held for trading: A financial Lability classified as held for trading, such as an obligation for secunities borrowed ina
short sale, which have to be returned in the future. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
inte by the Company that are not designated as hedging instraments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

All financial liabilities are recogmzed when the Company becomes party 1o contractual provisions and obligations under
the financial instruneent. The liabilities are recorded at fair value, and in the case of loans and payables, the procesds
received net of directly atnbutable transaction costs,

Subse skl
Financial labilites at FVPL continiie 1o be recorded at fair value with changes being recorded in the statement of profit or
loss,

For other financial liabilities, including loans, after initial recognition, these are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
infegral part of the EIR method. The EIR amoriization is included as finance cosis in the statement of profit or loss.

Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilitics for goods amd services provided 1o the Company prior to the end of financial period

which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequenily measured at amortized
cost using the effective mterest rate method.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligations under the liabilities are settled or discharged. When existing
financial liabilities are replaced by others from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of existing
liabilitics are substantially modificd, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liabilitics and the recognition of new liabilitics. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.

(MTsciting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is disclosed in the statement of fnancial position it
there 15 a currently enforceable legal nght 1o offset recognized amounts and there is an intention to setile on a net basis or
1o realize the assets and settle the labilities simuliancously.
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3 SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lakat and Taxes

Zakat is provided for the Company in accordance with the Regulations of Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA")
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and the provision 15 charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Differences, if any, resulting from the final assessments are adjusted in the period of their finalization.

The Company withhelds taxes on certain transactions with non-resident counterparties in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia as
recpuired under ZATCA regulations,

Employees benefit obligations

The Labalities recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of the employees” defined benefits labiliies, 15
the present value of the employees’ defined benefits liabilities at the end of the reporting period. The employees” defined
benefits liabilities are caleulated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit eredit method.

The net finance cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the emplovees’ defined benefits
liabilitics. This cost is incleded in employvee benefit Expenses in the statement of income and other comprehensive income.

Re-measurement gains and losses ansing from expenience adjustments and changes in achzanal assumplions are recognized
in the period in which they occur. directly in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incoms. They are
included in retained earmings in the statement of changes in shareholder's equity and m the statement of financial position.

Changes in the present value of the emplovees” end of service termination benefits habilities resulting from plan amendments
or curtailments are recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as past service
costs.

Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the amount specified in a contract with a customer and excludes the amount collected on
behalf of third parties.

The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to the customer. The application of the
principles in IFRS 15 is carried out in five steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) entered into with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two of more
parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and the Company criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 20 Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in contract with a
customer to transfer goods or render a service (o a customer.

Step 3¢ Determine the transaction price; The transaction peice is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects
1 be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services o a customer, excluding amount collected
of behalf of thivd parties.

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the performanse obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than on
performance obligation, the Company will allocate the ransction prce 1o cach performance obligation 1 an
amaunt that depicts the amount of consideration o which the company expects to be entithed in exchange for
satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 51 Recognize revenue when the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company's revenues are as follows:

a)  Revenuve from the sale of investment properties
Revenue from the sale of investment lands held for sale (developed or undeveloped) are recognized al a certain point in time
when implementing and completing the sale process and transferring significant swnership nsks and coneessions 1o the
baryer, as well as the revenues resulting from the sale of land contnbartions (under development) are recognized upon entenng
into the sale contract and the ssuanee of a contribution certificate 1o the new owner.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
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3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued )
Revenue (Continued )

b} Operating revenue
The revenues resulting from the operation of the investment properly are recegnized when contracting or when providing
the service, and the revenue is caloulated for the period related to the reporting period by straight-line or operating period,
and other revenues are recognized when realized.

¢} Rental revenue
The Company is the lessor in operating leases. Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and 15 included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income due 1o iz operating nature, excepl for contingent rental revenue which is recogmized when it
arises. [mitial direct costs incurred in negotiating and entening into an operating lease s recognized as an expense over the
lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Tenamt lease incentives are recognized as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The lease term is the non-cancellable peniod of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option
to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the management are reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise
that option.

Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for vandalism are recognized in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the right to receive them arises.

Costs of revenues
Revenue costs include amounts that are directly attribatable 1o revenue gencration such as: Expenses related to the

management and maintenance of properties, its depreciation and the cost of land sold,

General and Administrative expenses
Cremeral and administrative expenses include direct and imdirect costs not specifically part of direct costs of revenue, sales
or marketing activities of the Company.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
they are probable that an outflow of resources embadying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations and
a rcliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

I the effect of the time value of money is materal, provisions are discounted using a current pre-zakat eate that seflects the
risks specific to the liability, When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 1o the passage of ime 15 recognized
as a finance cost.

Sepmental Informalion

A business scgment 15 a set of assets and operations that together share the delivery of products or services subject to nisks
and retums that differ from those of other business sectors and that are measured according to reports used by the Chief
Executive Officer and the company’s chief operating decision maker.

Earnings Per Share
Basie and diluted EPS is caleulated based on the weighted average number of outstanding shares as at end of the vear.
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3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts of revenues, expenses. assets and hiabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumplions concernimg the future and other key sources of estimation uncertaimty at the reporting date, that have
a significant influence causing a materal adjustment 1o the carrying amounts of assets and Labihties within the next
fimancial vear, are described below. The Company has determined its estimates and assumptions based on the factors
available when preparing the financial statements.

Existing circumstances and assumptions abowt future developments, however, may change due 1o market changes or
circumstances ansing that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflecied in the assumptions when
they occur.

Estimates and related assumptions are reviewed on an engoing basis. Accounting estimates are recognized prospectively.

Use of Extimates amnd Assiviplicons

The Company sets oul estimates and assumplions for future. Accounting estimates ansing from this might be rarely similar
to related actual results. Below are estimates and assumptions that are subject to material risks that may lead to a significant
adjustment in the book values of asscts and liabilitics during the subsequent financial year.

Expected eredit losses provision

For accoumts receivable, the Company applies a simplified approach in caleulating ECLs. Accounts receivable have been
grouped n accordance with commen credit risk and past due dates. Expected loss rates were denived from historieal
information of the Company and are adjusted to reflect the expected future outcomse which also incorporates forward
Iooking information for macroeconomic factors such as inflation and gross domestic product growth rate.

Usefud Life of invesiment properiies, plant and equipnent

The company’s management determines the estimated useful life of mvestment properties, plant and equipment for the
purpose of caleulating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical
wear and tear. Management periodically reviews annually estimated useful lives and depreciation methed to ensure that the
depreciation method and duration are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits of the assets.

Employees” end of service benefits

The cost of employees’ defined benefit obligation and other post-employment benefits are determined using actuarial
valuations. An actuarial valuation requires making various assumptions which may differ from actual developments in the
future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the
complexity of the valuation, the underlyving assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

Lakat

The Company is subject to zakat in accordance with the regulations of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority ("ZATCA")
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and the provision is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Additional Zakat liabilities, if any, resulting from assessments raised by (“ZATCA™) for previous years are
accounted for in the year in which these final assessments are raised.

Provisions

Provisions are recogmized when the Company has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a resull of a past event,
they are probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-zakat rate that reflects the
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 1o the passage of ime is recognized
as a finance cost.

21

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Pravisions {continued)

Inipairment of ron-finaicial asseis

The compuny assess the assel on the reporting date whether there is an indication that the asset has impaired. If any such
indication exists, then the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value asset less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows of
the asscet are discounted to their present value using a discount price that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are
taken into account. If the recoverable amount of an asset 15 estimated to be less than s carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced 10 s recoverable amount. An impaiement loss 15 recognized immediately in statement of
profit and loss. If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the camying amount of the asset is increasced to the adjusted
value of the recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the carryving amount is no more than the carrying amount that
wottld have been determined in the absence of impairment loss of the assel's carrying amount in previous years, A reversal
impairment loss is recognized immediately in satement of profit and loss,

New standards, amendments and interpretations

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments which are effective on an annual basis for the
periods beginning on or after | January 2023 (unless otherwise stated). The Company has not early adopted any other
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Deefinition of Accounting Estimates- Amendments to LAS (8)

The amendments o LAS 8 clanify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors. They also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimites,

This amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to 1AS 1 and 1FRS Practice Statement 2
The amendments to [AS | and [FRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and examples
to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments aim to help entitics provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the
requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their “significant’
accounting policies matenial and adding gusdance on how to apply the concept of matenality in making decizions about
aceounting policy disclosures. The amendments have had an impact on the Company’s disclosures of sccounting policies,
bt mrot o the measurement, recogmition, or presentation of any items in the Company’s financial stalements.

Standards isswed but not vet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued as listed below, but ns vet effective, up to the date of
issuange of the Company *s financial statements are disclosed below, The Company intends to adopt these new and amended
standards and interpretations, 1f applicable, when they become effective.

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaschack - Amendments to IFRS 16

The seller-lessee recognized any amount of profit or loss related to the night of use that it retains.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must applied
retrospectively to sale and leaschack transactions entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16. Earlier
application is permitted and that fact must be disclosed. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the
Company's financial statement.
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3- SUMMARY OF MATRIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New standards, amendments and interpretations {Continued)
Standards issued but not vet effective (Continued)

Classification of Liabilitics as Current or Non-current- Amendments to 1AS 1
In January of 2020 and October of 2022, the LASE issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clanify:

what is meant by a right to defer settlement

That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

That classification is unaffected by the likelibood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

That oaly if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced 1o require disclosure when a habality arising from a loan, Agreement is
classified as non-current and the entity*s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with furare covenants within
twelve months.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after | January 2024 and must be applied
retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice.

Supplicr Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

In May of 2023, the IASE issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instrumemnts:
Disclosures to clarify the characieristics of supplier finance arrangemenis and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements, The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effecis of supplier finance arrangements on an entity's liabilities, cash flows and exposure o liquidity
risk.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting pertods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, Early adoption i=
permitted but will need to be disclosed. The amendments are not expected 1o have a material impact on the Company's
financial statements.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

4. Properiy, plant and equipment

Plant and  Furnitiure and Matar Prajects in
Eguipnrent Decoration vehicles PROErEss Tertal
Cusiiz
At 1 Januwary 2022 10,135,724 4,880,204 1. 30k, S 1,011 487 17,338,411
Additions 3. 182,386 232,399 239,220 35040632 7.518,637
Dhsposals (1.235936) (23,197) - . (1258133
Transfer from projects in progress to
property, plant and equipment 1627858 - - (1627 B58) -
AL 31 December 2022 13,714,032 5,089,404 1.546,216 3, 148.261 13,597, 05
Additions 604,518 173,942 - 5,104,238 5,884,608
Disposals = = = - =
Transfer from projects in progress to
property, plant and equipment 4. 768,128 - - (4, T6E,125) -
At 31 December 2023 19,086,675 5,263,348 1,546,216 3,586,371 19,482,613
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2022 EO58.442 4,528,147 961,547 - 14,448,136
Charge for the yvear 107,192 119,783 119,769 - 1,246,744
Related 1o disposals (1.234,682) (21,730 - - (1,256412)
At 31 December 2022 B, T30,952 4,620,204 1,081,316 - 14,438,468
Charge for the vear 1181465 181,560 156,124 - 2.510,149
Related 1o disposals - - - - -
At 31 Decermber 2023 10,912,417 4,807,760 1,237,440 - 16,957,617
Met Book Value:
At 31 December 2023 8,174,261 455,588 08,776 3,586,371 12,524,906
Al 31 December 2022 4 953,080 463,20 464, M) 3248261 9,159,447
= The depreciation of property, plant amd equaipment is charged as follows;
I DECEMBER A DECEMBER
2023 2022
Cost of revenue 1,715,926 BH5 R65
Gieneral and Administration expenses §03,223 JR0.8T9
1519149 1,246,744

23
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ARRIVADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDLIOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES T THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 DECEMBER 2023
(ANl Ameunts in Saudi Rayals unbess ollicraise staled)

5 INVESTMENT FPROFERTIES

Lands on whick
buildings wre
Fandds construched il TOTAL
Cast 1
1 Jamuary 2022 211,050,303 401,428,708 1,157.525,613 1.770,142,521
Adklitons ES9L6RS B2 30,000 123,154,650 I190.977,335
Reclassification 21 S8 R (21 S Rl - -
A1 Deevmber 2032 I41LTELLTIE A3 TR 1.2E0GTH 263 L1 19, R56
Audditsons . = RN IR LR LRI
Tranafer from Envestmest properties under development - - 952870 253570
Transfer from Linds o lends on which builldings are consrucied FLL S ] 10,587 188 - -
Transfermed 1o Assets held for sale LLIAT605) - - (2, 247.695)
Disposals 13ATBOG) - (22,637 429) (26,114,06:5)
31 Dezember 2023 1 35410173 S0ITTANS 126642254 (R R ]
[hepreciation:
1 Jamuary X022 401,720,752 4001,7H,752
{Charge for the year 12646.667 12506 667
A1 Desember 2031 AMI6T AT AHHT A1
{Charge for the year IS R42EI4 IS R4T K14
Disposals (LAITASN (2163745
31 December 2023 447578784 447571784
Net Boak Value:
31 December 2023 1538440173 40277009 H15, 000470 1490, T80, T2
31 Devember 2023 241751732 A30, 680851 B, 310,544 1.527.752.437
25

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

5 INVESTMENTS PROPERTIES, (Continued)

As =et oul in the material accounting policies, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, The
fair value of investment properties amounted 10 SR 3,318, 701,013 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: SR
4,193 387.000), based on the valuations performed by a real estate valuer, Esnad and its Partner for Real Estate Appraisal,
with license no. 1210000448, (independent valuer accredited by the Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuers).

Investment properties include buildings constructed on land leased from the Riyadh Municipality (Otaiga Market) under
23-year lease starting from 30 March 201 1, which will be transferred to the Municipality at the end of the lease. The net
book value as at 31 December 2023 amounted to SR 164.8 million {31 December 2022: SR 177.4 million).

The investment propertics include lands totaling an amount of SR 28,872,546 not yet registered in the name of the Company
as it was expropriated in favor of the Company under Royal Decree Mo 4 7B/ 2732 dated 8 Rabi Al Awal 141 2H. However,
the previous owners of the lands have not submitted their claims and haven't tranaferred the land ownership to the Company
umtil 31 Drecember 2023, (Mote 18).

The fur value measurement of the investment property is categorized under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
All investment properties are located in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITES

The carrying value of the recognized right-of-use assets and changes during the vear are as follows:
31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year 49,003 246 54,094 668
Depreciation for the year (4,490,722} (4,490,722)
Balance at the end of the vear 45,113,224 49,603 946

The lease liabilities as at 31 December are as follows:
A5 December 2023 3 December 2022

Non-current lease liabilities 42,077,256 45,570,655
Current lease liabilities 6,009,280 5,999,592
Total lease liabilities 18,086,536 51,570,247

The following is the carrying amount of lease liabilities and changes during the year:
31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year 51,579,247 54,880,204
Paid during the year (6.200,000) (6,200,000)
Accrued interest- lease liabilities 2,707,289 2899047

Balance at the end of the vear 48,086,536 51,579,247

The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss:
A December 2023 F December 2022

Depreciation of right of use assets 4,490,722 4,490,722
Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,707,289 2800047

T.198,011 7,389,769
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ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY')

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

T INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

- INVESTMENT DESIGNATED AT FVOCT {Continued)
b) Investments in companies” equity not listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange

The board of directors decided at its meeting held on 15 January 2015 1o enter as a founding partner in Saudi Hospitality
Heritage Company(“Nuzul™) (Saedi Closed Joint Stock Company) located in Riyvadh, with 2,000,000 shares at 1otal valuwe
of SR 20 mallion and 8% of the Company’s capital. The Company paid a pavment of SE 5,000,000 for its investment
share.

During the peried ended 31 December 2022, the shareholders of Nuzul decided to liquidate the company, and the Company
received during the peried an amount of SR 1,200,000 ull the completion of the liguidation procedures. The Company's
management docs not believe that any additional losses will result from the liquidation process.

The investment movement is as follows:
A1 December 2023 31 Decewber 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year 986,919 2,186,929
Change im fair valwe - .
Recovered from liquidation - {1,200, DR
Balance at the end of the year 986,929 986,929

9- INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

During 2019, the Company, agreed with Sumou Holding Company, to establish Tanal Investment and Real Estate
Development Company (“Tanal”™) {a Limited Liability Companyy with a capital of SE 100,000, with 69.38% for Armiyadh
Development Company and 30.62% for Sumou Holding Company - which 15 The same proportions of ownership of
companiecs in the First Riyad Al-Tameer Real Estate Fund - for the purpose of transferring the assets and liabilities of the
First Rivad Al-Tameer Real Estate Fund, which was closed and its assets has transferred in 2019 to Tanal Investment and
Real Estate Development Company and its subsidiary (Ruba Real Estate Building Company ), which s 100% owned.

The financial statements of Tanal Investment and Real Estate Development Company have not been consolidated due to
the lack of contral by the Company, as the Company doees not currently have majority voting rights on operational and
administrative decisions, as the Amicles of Association states that a board of directors consisting of (3) five directors shall
undertake the management of Tanal Company. They represent the partners and form among themselves the Board of
Directors of Tanal Company, whereby the pariner (Sumou Holding Company) appoints (3) three directors, and the panner
(Arrivadh Development Company) appoints (2) directoss. The Article of Association can’t amended unless there is
unamnimous approval by all partners. Accordingly, significant influence exists for the Arrivadh Development Company on
the Tanal Company, and the investment was accounted for using the equity method,

During the second quarter of 202 1, it was agreed between pariners in Tanal Company 1o transfer part of the share of Sumou
Hoelding Company to Sumou Feal Estate Company - a Saudi Joint Stock Company, and the Company's Article of
Association was amended accordingly. Accordingly, the percentage of ownership in the Tanal Investment and Real Estate
Development Company became 69.38% for the Arrivadh Development Company. 20062% for the Sumou Holding
Company and 10% for the Sumou Real Estate Company. The method of accounting the investment in Tanal Investment
and Real Estate Development Company was not affected due to the non-change of the voting rights referred to above in
the Articles of Association.

The address of the head office of Tanal Company is in Rivadh, The Company is engaged in the management and leasing of
owned or leased ot properties (residential), management and leasing of owned or leased out propertics (non-residential).

31 December 2023 H December 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,819,500 2,117,150
Additions 19,021,110 1812006
Transferred to investment properties {Note 5) (952,370) (2. 105,650)
Balance at the end of the year 149,888,240 1,819,500
H, INVESTMENT DESIGNATED AT FVOCI
Investments at BV are represented as the following:
F1 December 2023 31 December 2022
Investments in companies’ equity listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange (a) -
Investments in companies” equity not listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange
[1)] FH6,929 SE6,925
986,929 Q86,920
The movement in the revaluation reserve of Investments designated at FVOCT was as follows:
F1 December 2023 31 December 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year (2.813,070) 16,478,192
Change in the Gair value of investments designated at FVOC]T - 824217
Transferred from revaluation reserve of investments designated at FYOCI
to retained earmings - (27.533.479)
(2.813.070) {2.813,070)
a) Investments in companies’ equity listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange (a)
A1 December 2023 31 December 2022
Balance at the beginming of the year - 50,437,107
Additions during the year - -
Change in fair value - 8242217
Proceeds from disposals during the year * = (67.679.324)
Balance at the end of the year - -
27
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(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY')

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

9. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summary of the financisl information of Tanal Investment and Real Estate Development Company and its whaolly
ownel subsidiary (Ruba Buildings Real Estate Company)

The financial statements of this Company and its subsidiary are prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standands as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements endorsed by
the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA)Y. The sccounting policies used in preparing
the financial statements of the associate are consistent with those used by Amiyadh Development Company.

The following table shows the summarized financial information of the Company’s investment in Tanal Investment and

Real Estate Development Company:
31 December 2023 31 December 2022

At the beginning of the vear 231,347,588 451,136,194
Share in profits 9T 498,489 194,465,838
Decrease in additional capital - {137473,752)
Dividends received (91,581 .600) (272,780,692}
At the end of the year 137,264,477 231,347 588

The following is the summanzed consolidated statement of financial position of Tanal Investment and Real Estate
Developisent Company:

31 December 2023 3] December 2002

Current assets 352,294,129 355,833,444
Mon- current assets - -
Current liabilitics (10.315,327) (22,382.876)
Equity 341,975,802 333,450,568
The Company’s share in equity 230,204,477 231347588
The Company's earrying amount of investment 237,264,477 231,347,588

The following iz the summanzed consolidated stitement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Tanal
Investment and Real Estate Development Company:

2023 2022
Revenue 209 468,247 503,625,537
Cost of revenue {116.426,673) (275.702,904)
General and Administrative expenses (3,579,920 (3.567,770)
Selling and marketing expenses - (214,636)
Finance costs - -
Other income - -
Income before Fakat 149,401,654 283,440,242
Lakan (8,933, 4200 (B.014,674)
Net income for the year 140,528,234 374,525 568
The Company's share in the income for the vear 97 A8 48 T, 465,838

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

1. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLE

21 December 2023 3 December 2022

Accounts receivable 108,263,352 113,456,734
Less: Provision for expected credit loss® (48,376, 304) (39,872,192)
Net accounts receivable 59887048 73,584,542
Accrued Murabaha revenue from deposits 484,524 17,225,690
Advances to supplicrs 1,522,060 4,123,659
Prepaid expenses 1,613,480 1,338,507
Employees” advances 1,507,528 563,570
Others 3.300.117 632620

68,314,757 97,518,588

* The movement of the provision for expected credit loss during the year is as follows:

Al December 2023 31 December 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year 39.872,192 27,938,554
Provided during the vear (Note 23) 12,510,445 13,444,768
Reversal duning the vear {4, 00M5, 333) {1.511,130)
Balance at the end of the year 48,376,304 39,872,192

The following is an analysis of the aging of receivables and the provision for expected credit losses as at December 31:

1-90 Days  91- 180 Days  181-270 Days  271-365 Days 10T than

Total B0 Vear
Trade receivables
2023 108,263,352 33,102,582 16,108,442 3310450 12,8%6. 362 42845516
012 113,456,734 27,375,151 27200279 6115081 15,625,783 3130440
Prowision for expected credit loss
023 48,376,304 1,134,514 1,510,010 571,379 3478861 41,681,240
022 3087192 1,359,985 2961146 1,263,959 4,409,465 29877634

11. RELATED PATRY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are represented in transactions with the associate (Tanal Investment and Real Estate Development Company),
the Board of Directors (and its sub-committeesy, key management personnel of the Company. Key management personnel
are the persons who exercise authority and responsibility in planning, managing and controlling the Company's activilics,
directly or indirectly, including the managers.

During the normal course of its business, the Company had the following significant transactions with major related parties
during the vear ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as follows:

9

Beseription Natwre of frapsaction 31 Decenvher 2023 31 December 2022

Additional capital

Tanal Investment and Real Estate Development  reduction - 137,473,752

Company ( Associate) Dividends 1581600 272, TRO692

Baoard of Directors (Mote 23) Bonus and allowances 3 156,000 3,357,000
Salarics, allowaneces and

Key management personnel incentives 17,379,511 13,805 868

Kev management personnel End of service benefit 793,205 389,129

30
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

11 MURABAHA INVESTMENT DEPOSITS

Azt 31 December 2023, total Murabaha investment deposits amounted 1o SR 870 mallion (31 December 2022: SR 645
million), which were placed with a number of local financial institutions. The Murabaha rates range from 2.73% w0 6,1 1%
duning the vear.

Below is long or short term Murabaha classification:

Murabaha Investment Deposits — Long term

31 Pecember 2023 31 December 2022
Murabaha Investment Deposits with Banks 1, CHMD, (MR 1 85,000,000
A0 M (D 185,004,000

Murabaha Investment Depasits = Short term:

I December 2023 31 December 2022
Murabaha Investment Deposits with Banks 270,41, 1R 640, (00000
Murabaha Investment Deposits with Investment Company - A0, 00000
270,000,000 460,000,000

The following is o statement of the revenue collected from deposits during the vear:
31 December 2023 3 December 2022
Revenue From Investment Deposits - long term 300, K64 51.857
Revenue From Invesimeni Deposiis - short term 37,622,124 21,544,202
37,922,988 21,596,059

13,  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On the 26 of October 2023, the board of directors of the Company issued a resolution (4905/10/72023) 1o
authorize the CEO to sell the Company's share in the available Telal Arrivadh plots land in the event of receiving
an offer that is suitable exceeding the average of two values submitted by two licensed valuers. The sale of the
land plots is expected to be completed within a year from the reporting date. At 31 December 2023, Telal
Arrivadh was classified as a disposal land held for sale and as a discontinued operation. With Telal Arrivadh land
being reclassified as discontinued operations, the land is no longer presented in the investment propertics note.

There have been no revenue or cost associated with this land held for sale.

31 Pecember 2023

31 December 2022

Land held for sale 2,247,695

14. CASH AT BANKS

Fl Pecember 2023 31 December 2022
Cash at Banks 44,981,706 34,555,310
44,981,796 34,555,510

Credit risk on cash a1 banks 15 limited, as the cash is held with banks with good credit ratings.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

15,  SHARE CAPITAL
The share capital consists of SR 1,777,777.770 fully paid, divided into 177,777,777 shares with value of SR 10 each.
1.  STATUORY RESERVE

According to the Company's By-laws, the Company must transfer 10% of its net income each year until this reserve totals
30 of the capital. This reserve is not available for distribution.

17. EMPLOYEES' DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Company grants end-of-service benefits o its employees after taking into account the applicable labor law in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. These benefits are an unfinded defined benefin plan,

The benefits provided by these pension plans are based primarily on years of service and employee compensation. the plan
funding is in line with local requirements.  The labilitics is subject to demographic. legal and economic nsks. Economic
risks are primanly attributable to unexpected developments in the commodifies, capital markets and changes in the discount
rate used to calenlate defined benefit obligations.

Key actuarial assumptions:
31 December 2023 31 Decembser 2022

Financial assum ptions:

Discount rate 5.7% 6.1%
Salary growth rate 4% 3 A%
Demographic assumplions:

Retirement age 6l Years G0 Years
Mortality rate SA-WHO SAWHO

Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations:
21 December 2023 31 December 2022

3

Balance at the beginning of the year 10,659, M5 10,578,600

Interest cost 433,39 211,580

Current service cost JA11.91% 1,912,619

Actuarial (gains) losses on employee benefit obligations (544.946) (1,129.113)

Paid during the year (1,955.999) (913.781)

Balance at the end of the year 12,404,275 10,659,905
12
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

18, ACCOUNT PAYBLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 Decenmber 2023 31 December 2022

Payables of Al-Shorouk land contribution (A) 84,280,797 87,604,963
Uneamed reveniie 44,001,330 39,552,182
Accruals for Car Auction 21,558,615 11,272,886
Accrued expenses 11,122,900 TRO9H]1D
Payable from exproprated real estate (B) 18,872,546 2B.872.546
Insurance for others 18,550,087 17. 764,084
Accrued wages and other benefits 17,194, 380 13,683,434
Provisions (C) 14,142,172 14,142,172
Securing reservation of rental units J.H6H.044 1514102
Bonuses and allowances of board members & commitiee members 3441000 31 450,000
litigation expenses 1.3%.418 11,602,077
Others 1,225,919 1,498,463

249,654,208 242,916,728

a}  Thesc amounts represent the value of sales of Al-Shorouk contribution lands that were collected by the Company,
and the liquidation of the contribution is in progress after deducting all remaining costs on Al-Shorouk lands

sharcholders in favor of the Company.

] The amount represents the payable amounts to the previous owners of the properties that were expropriated under
Roval Decree No. 4 /B / 2732 dated 8 Rabi Al-Awal 1412 H those who have not vet chimed their dues until 31

December 2023 (Note 5),

¢} The amount of the provisions represents commitments for construction works for the implementation of a canal for
draining fleod and rain in Al-Shorouk lands in Al-Remal district, sccording to the request of the regulatory authorities

in the region.

1% DIVIDENDS PAYABLE

The balance represents the amounts approved by the ordinary general assembly of the Company for previous years, which
the sharcholders did not receive until 31 December 2023 amounting to SR 74,251,232 (31 December 2022: SR 73.917,517).

0. FAKAT PROVISION

Assessment status

The Company submitted zakat returns up to 2022 and finalized its zakat position for the years 2019 and 2020 by paying
zakat differences amounting to SR | one million. Duning the vears 2020 and 2021, the Company received Zakat assessment
for the previous vears from 2015 w 2018, which resulied in a total zakat difference of SR 109 million. An objection was
submitted against These differences to the General Secretariat of Tax Committees. In addition, the caze was submitted to
The Tax Committees for Resolution of Tax Violations and Disputes with Zakat, Tax and Custoems Awthority (ZATCA) in
exchange for paying o certain amount 1o settle the dispute, and a payment of an amount of SE 59 Million was reached, but
the amount was rejected by the Company s management. The Company decided to appeal the foreseeable objection before
the General Secretarial of the Tax Commuttees. The muling of the Committee for Settlement of Tax and Income Vielations
and Disputes was 1ssued. which resulted in a reduction in the amount of zakat under protest by SR 39 million. The Company
filed an appeal against this decision 1o the first appellate Department for income tax violation and disputes a1 the General
Secretariat of Tax Committees. The Company is still awaiting a response from the Appeals Department.

Movement in Zakat provision

31 December 2023 31 Decenber 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year 21,033,941 17,632,286
Provided during the vear 20,320,238 12687913
Paid during the year (14,473, 751) (9,304, 257)
Balance at the end of the year 26,850,429 21,033,042

EX]

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

0. FAKAT PROVISION (continued)

Lakat base
Lakat provision is calculated based on the following:

Adjusted sharcholders' equity

Oipening provisions

Other additions

The book value of the adjusted long-term assets
Invesiments

Invesimenis revaluation reserve

Other deductions

Adjusted net profit for the year

Lakat base

Zakat for the vear

1. REVENUE

Renial revenue
Operating income
Sale of lands revenue

12, COST OF REVENUE

Depreciation expenses

Employvees” salaries, wages and other benefils
Market and center maintenancs expenses
Market and center cleaning expenses

Security and safety expenses

Market and center service expenses

Land selling costs

Market and center evenl expenses

Franchise expensecs

Other Expenses

13, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Employees” salaries, wages and other benefits

Loss of a provision for expected eredit losses (Note 10)

Professional and consultation fiees

Acerued litigation expenses

Board of directors” attendance allowances and compensation (Note 1)
Maintenance and operation

Others

31 December 2023 3 December 2022
2, 200,449,677 2,004,764, 150
S92, 0147 386 50,380,175
122,325,080 133,842,793
(1.570,560,917) {1,588,335,330)
(238,251,406) ({232,334.51T)
(2,813.070) {2.813.070)
(BD,175,737) (133,333,333)
316,735,332 339,564,564
TO7.859. 345 571.735,732
20,320,238 14,473,752
20023 22l
220,941,681 187,667,948
76,584,329 71,229,086
41,359,305 -
339,185,405 258,897,034
2023 2022
42,033,057 37985374
24,042,553 15,114,172
15,742,141 4,269,129
13,212,986 QE0],659
9,901,886 Q149,910
3,986,942 1,686,005
3,476,607 -
2,833,142 2411593
2,500,000 2,539,136
5,245,537 3,654,942
122974851 §8.712.220
223 2022
J5A429,7T79 29217676
12,510,445 13,444,768
13,511,582 12,663,378
- 4,509,174
3,156,000 3,357,000
1,263,624 1,467,736
3,231,512 1,336,713
69,102,952 i, 606 445

14
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

4. CASH AND CASH EQUVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following.

2023 2022
Cash at Banks (Note 14) 44,981,796 34,555,510
Deposits maturing within 3 months from the placement date (Note 12} 2T0 0, DY -
314.981,79% 34555510

15, SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information is atiributable to the Company’s activities and business on the bases of which the Company's.
management used to prepare its financial information in line with financial reporting preparation process.

The assets, habilities and operating activitics of the segments include items that are directly related to a specific segment
and iterns that can be allocated to the different segmenis on a reasonable basis, Items that cannot be allocated between the
segments are classified under the heading of common assets and liabilites.

The following 15 a summary of the segmental financial information in Saudi Rival as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively according 1o the naiure of the activity:

Commrercial lands and Comman assels

centers F“m "::f"" contributions  and Nabilities Total
segw et SeRH et SEERCHT

31 December I0L3:

Taotal assets 1412878033 116,230,870 135,440,173 1,027,559, 800 2792 108 876
Total liabilities 121,189,654 15252478 98, 422969 166,411,579 411,276,680
31 December 2021:

Total asscts 1441, 704,521 106,827,614 138,916,780 QI0295,030 2507743945
Total liabilities 114,867,474 19,736,741 110,038,427 155 464,697 A0, 107,339
31 December 2023

Revenue 162,510,242 135.315.768 41,359,395 = LR ELIETIES
Costs of revenues (4,450, 684) {25,047 560) {3.476,607) - (122UT4.R51)
Finance costs (1707, 289) - - - (2, TOT.289)
Other Income - - 11,274,100 THI KT2 12,037 981
Operating resulls 65,352,269 110,268,208 49,156 %97 T63, K72 225,541,246
General & administrative expenses - - - (69, 102.952) (69, 102,952)
Mudarabah income - - - 37922988 37,921 988
Share of profit of an associate - - - 97 AME AR U7 APEARD
Met profit for the period before zakai 65,552,269 110,268, 28 49,156 897 67,082,397 291,859,771
Lakal - - - (20,320,238) (20.320,238)
MNet prafit for the pernod 05,352 2659 110,263, 28 49,156,897 46,762,159 271,539,533
31 December I0Z2:

Revenue 145,376,365 113,520,669 - - 258,597,034
Costs of revenues (T3, 182,530) (15,529 690) - - (88,712,220
Finance costs (2.890,047) = = - (2.890,047)
Other Income 187,103 183,061 - 22,795 392.95%
Operating resulls 69 451,891 98,174,040 - 22,795 167,678,726
General & administrative expenses - - - (s, 696 445) (66, 606,445)
Mudarabah incomee - - - 21,596,059 21,396,059
Share of profit of an associate - - - 190,465 818 15h), 465 B3R
Met profit for the period before zakat 60 451,891 Q8,174,040 - 145,388,247 313,044,178
Lakatl - - - (12.687.913) (1268791 3)
Met profit for the peried 9,451,891 95,174,040 - 132,700,334 3W), 356,265

35

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Sawdi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

15, SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)

The commercial centers sector represents the public transportation market, Al-Tameer Intemational Car Auction, Al-Tameer
Center, Atiga market, meat market, Riyvadh market, office tower, and the leased land of Al-Aziziyah, the public benefi
sector represents the frull and vegetable center, the lands and contnbutions sector represent the Company's projects
represented by the sale of developed lands, the common assets and liabilities segments represents all items that do not fall
under any of the specific segments,

b FAIR YALUES MEASUREMENT

The following table shows the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022

AN sl Dhacannhior 2023 (::j:‘:g Level 1: Level 2; Level 3: Fair Value

Investments designated at FVOCIT 986,929 - - 986,929 DRG,929
986,929 - - 986,929 DR6,919

As at 31 December 2022

Investments designated at FVOCI 986,929 - - OR6,920 GRO6.029
R, 920 - - Q86,4920 GEG9209

The management assess that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade pavables and other current
habalities approximate their book value due 1o the short matunty of these instruments.

17, RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES

The Company's principal financial hiabilities consist of trade payables, aceruals and other habilities. While the Company's
main financial assets include trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents resulting directly anising directly from
its operations. The Company alse has investments in equity instruments that are carried at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Company may be exposed to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

- Market risk - Credit risk
- Commission rate risk - Ligquidity risk
- Foreign currency risk

The Company's overall risk management program focuses on managing liquidity in addition to monitonng various changes
in the relevant market, and thus constanily seeks to reduce potential negative effects on the Company’s financial performance.
The Board of Directors reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarized below:

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market prices involve three types of risks Commission rate risk, currency risk and other price risk,
such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include deposits,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(Al Amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

17, RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the situation as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the net debt value, the fixed-1o-floating debt commission rate
and the financial instrument ratio are all fixed and based on specific hedge allocations as ;1 31 December 2023,

The analysis excludes the effect of market changes on the book value of pensions and other post-retirement liabilities and

PrOvVISIons.

The following assumptions were used when calculating the sensitivity analyses:

» The sensitivity of the items related to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is the effect of
assumed changes in the relevant market risk. This is based on the financial assets and financial liabilitics acquired as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022

prafif rate risk
The financial instruments on the statement of financial position are not subject to profit rate risk

Foreign currency risk,
The Company 15 not exposed 1o significant foreign exchange risk and therefore there is no need for effective management
of this risk.

Credif risk

Credit risk s the risk that a counterpanty will not meet i1s abligations under a fnancial instrument of customer contract,
leading to a financial loss, The Company 15 exposed to credit nisk from its operating activities (primanly trade receivables)
and its financing activitics, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.

To reduce exposure io credii risk, the Company has approval procedures through which credit limats are applied 1o s
custeaners, The management also constantly monitors exposure to credit risks related to customiers and sets aside a provision
for expected credit losses, based on the customer's staius and payment history. Ouistanding customer receivables are also
monitored on a regular basis,

The carrving amount of financial assets represent the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at
the reporting date was:
3 December 2023 31 December 2022

Cash at banks 44,981,706 34,555,510
Murabaha investment deposits® KT 0,000, 0400 645,000,000
Accounts receivables, net 59887972 73,584,542
Investments designated at FVOC] O86,929 986,929

D75, 856,697 754,126,981

*  The Company has Murabaha investment deposits amounting to SE 370 million with a number of financial and local
instibutions, which represenis about 31% of the value of the Company's assets as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022; 25%).

Cash at banks, Murabaha investment deposits and receivables are also sccounted for at amortized cost.

Liguidity risk

Ligquidity risk 1s the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with
financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from the inability to realise financial assets quickly at an amount close to its
fair value.

liquidity risk 15 managed through monitening such risks on a regular basis 1o assure sufficient funds are available to mest the
Company’s future obligations.

ARRIYADH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
(A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 DECEMBER 2023
(All Amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

I8 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital 1o ensure that the Company continues s a going concern and gains maximum returmns
through eptimal debt and shareholders” equity.

The Company's capital strecture includes the Company's shareholders' equity, which consisis of capital, reserves, fair
value reserve and retained eamings as included in the siatement of changes in shareholders' equity,

19, Dividends

Based on the approval of the General Assembly issued on 10 Shavwwal 1444 H (corresponding to 30 April 2023) 1o authorize
the Board of Directors to distribute interim dividends on a semi‘quarterly basis for 2023, the Board of Dircctors of the
Company decided duning its meeting beld on 9 Mubaream 1445 H {corresponding to 27 July 2023) to distribute cash
dividends for the first half of 2023 amounting to SR 44,444 444 at 25 halalas per share.

Om 10 Shawwal 1444 H {corresponding to 30 Apnl 2023}, the Company s general assembly approved the Board of Directors’
decision to distnbute dividends for the first half of 2022 a1 25 halalas per share for a total amount of SR 44,444 444 as well
as the Board of Directors” recommendation o distribute dividends for the second half of 2022 m 25 halalas per share for a
total amount of SR 44,444,444,

On 12 May 2022, the Company’s General Assembly approved the Board of Directors” recommendation to distribute
dividends for the sccond half of 2021 and the first half of 2022 at 75 halalas per share for a total amount of SR 133,333 333,

On 7 March 2024, the Board of Directors recommended distributing cash dividends to shareholders for the second half of
2023 at the rate of 50 halalas per share, This recommendation is o be presented to the General Assembly for it next voling.

J. COMMITMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES

The Company has contingent liabilites from time fo time relating 1o certain disputed matters, including ¢laims from and
against contractors, lingation and arbitration proceedings involving a vanety of cases. These contingeneies arise in the
ordinary course of business. No significant addittonal liabilities are expected to be incurred from these potential claims,

Al EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic camings per share for the vear ended 31 December 2023 and the vear ended 31 December 2022 are caleulated by
dividing the net profit of the main business and the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares
caitstanding during the vear, amounting to 177,777,777 shares.

Driluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 December 2022 are caleulated by
dividing net profit for the yvear by the weighted average number of shares owtstanding duning the year and adjusted for the

effect of potential dilution of common shares. Since there 15 no obligation that can be converted inte equity instruments,
diluted earnings per share doesn’t differ from basic carnings per share.

32, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no significant subsequent events after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of approval of the financial
siatemenis by the Board of Direciors ithat mighi have a matersal impaci on the financial statements as on 31 December 2023,

33 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 Sha'ban 1445H (corresponding to 7 March 2024).

Ly
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Closing Remarks

We continue to build...

for the sake of human well-fare.

fiil
At Riyadh Development Company. we consider this report to be an essential E}gﬁlﬁml
part of our journey. which began 30 years ago and will continue into the HE:HIL“"
future. Our vision and mission are inspired by the wisdom of a great King ]“H]
and the vision of a young Crown Prince who recognizes the transformative ;EI
potential of our country. This transformation will propel our Kingdom to the :“
forefront of the developed world and make Riyadh a global hub for investors (il

and stakeholders. While we take pride in our achievements so far. our focus -

remains on the future.We aim to achieve more by developing a clear strategy
and specific goals consistent with Vision 2030 which seeks to create a

sustainable society for Riyadh and Saudi Arabia.
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